
Cabinet Agenda
Wyre Borough Council

Date of Publication: 21 November 2017
Please ask for : Duncan Jowitt

Democratic Services and Councillor 
Development Officer

Tel: 01253 887608

Cabinet meeting on Wednesday, 29 November 2017 at 5.30 pm
in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Poulton-Le-Fylde

1.  Apologies for absence

2.  Declarations of interest

Members will disclose any pecuniary and any other significant interests 
they may have in relation to the matters to be considered at this 
meeting.

3.  Confirmation of minutes (Pages 1 - 4)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting of 
Cabinet.

4.  Public questions

To receive and respond to any questions from members of the public. 

Public questions can be delivered in writing to Democratic Services or 
sent by email to: publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk. Public questions for 
this meeting must be received by noon on Thursday 23 November 
2017. Questioners should provide their name and address and indicate 
to which Cabinet member the question is to be directed.

The total period of time allocated for public questions will not normally 
exceed 30 minutes.

5.  Life in Wyre task group - final report (Pages 5 - 26)

Report of the Chairman of the Life in Wyre task group and Service 
Director Performance and Innovation

6.  Proposal to Dissolve the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Economic 
Development Company and Form an Economic Prosperity Board

(Pages 27 - 38)

Report of the Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and Chief 
Executive

Public Document Pack

mailto:publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk


7.  Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 (Pages 39 - 96)

Report of the Planning and Economic Development Portfolio Holder 
and Chief Executive

8.  Capital Programme Review and Monitoring Report (Pages 97 - 
104)

Report of the Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and Head of 
Finance (s.151 Officer)



Cabinet Minutes 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting of Wyre Borough Council held on Wednesday, 18 
October 2017 at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Poulton-Le-Fylde.

Cabinet members present:
Councillor Alan Vincent, Leader of the Council and Resources Portfolio Holder
Councillor Lynne Bowen, Deputy Leader and Leisure and Culture Portfolio Holder
Councillor Roger Berry, Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety Portfolio Holder
Councillor David Henderson, Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces Portfolio Holder
Councillor Pete Murphy, Planning and Economic Development Portfolio Holder

Apologies:
None

Other councillors present:
Councillor(s) Marge Anderton, Howard Ballard and Rob Fail

Officers present:
Garry Payne, Chief Executive
Mark Billington, Service Director People and Places
Mark Broadhurst, Service Director Health and Wellbeing
Clare James, Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer
Ruth Hunter, Street Scene Manager
Duncan Jowitt, Democratic Services and Councillor Development Officer

Apologies:
Marianne Hesketh, Service Director Performance and Innovation

No members of the public or press attended the meeting.

CAB.14 Declarations of interest 

None.

CAB.15 Confirmation of minutes 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 September 2017 were 
confirmed as a correct record.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



CAB.16 Public questions 

None

CAB.17 Waste and Recycling Collection Services task group - final report 

The Chairman of the Waste and Recycling Collection Services task group and 
Service Director Performance and Innovation submitted a report to Cabinet 
detailing the work of the Waste and Recycling Collection Services task group 
and the Vice Chairman of the task group Councillor Howard Ballard 
introduced the report. 

The Leader expressed surprise that no Labour members were included 
amongst the members of the task group listed on the report and asked the 
Vice Chairman to pass on his thanks to the members of the task group for 
their hard work and a very good and well-presented report. The Street Scene, 
Parks and Open Spaces Portfolio Holder affirmed that the replacement of the 
kerbside box with a fourth bin would form part of the negotiations when the 
contract was due for renewal.

Decision taken

Cabinet agreed the following recommendations of the task group:

 That the council re-tests the market before making a decision about the 
provision of the waste and recycling collection service beyond April 
2020.

 That any future arrangement for the delivery of the waste and recycling 
collection service takes into account the requirements of the Local Plan 
including, in particular, the impact of additional properties planned for 
the borough.

 That the box currently used for dry recyclates be replaced by a bin.
 That a four-bin system for a two-stream collection on a four-weekly 

cycle be introduced.
 That all options for driving up recycling rates be considered, and 

implemented as appropriate. 

CAB.18 Cost Profiles - benchmarking results 2017/18 

The Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and Head of Finance (s.151 
Officer) submitted a report asking Cabinet to consider the findings of the 
2017/18 benchmarking study, a key element used to demonstrate that the 
council has proper arrangements in place for securing value for money.

Cabinet discussed the benchmarking information and the difficulties in 
extrapolating accurate comparative information from the data due to the 
differences between accounting practices in other authorities.

Page 2



Decision taken

Cabinet agreed that the findings would be used in future service reviews to 
suggest approaches that might assist the council in making further 
efficiencies.

CAB.19 Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 

The Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and Head of Finance (s.151 
Officer) submitted a report asking Cabinet to consider the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan for the financial years 2017/18 to 2020/21.

Decision taken

Cabinet considered the Medium Term Financial Plan and the consequential 
action required in order to address the issues resulting from the 3 year 
Financial Forecast, noted the revised expenditure projections incorporating 
the slippage from 2016/17, and the resulting impact on the level of the 
Council’s Reserves and Balances at 31st March 2017; and agreed the top-up 
and use of all Reserves and Balances as indicated in Appendix 3 to the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

CAB.20 Review of Consultation and Implementation of a Public Space 
Protection Order (PSPO) for Dog Control 

The Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces Portfolio Holder and Service 
Director People and Places submitted a report summarising the consultation 
feedback on the draft PSPOs relating to dog controls, and asked Cabinet to 
agree changes and grant approval for the Senior Solicitor to make the Order 
in accordance with regulations published by the Secretary of State.

Decision taken

Cabinet:

 agreed to the making of PSPO as shown in Appendix 1 of the report,
 deferred the decision to introduce a limit on the maximum number of 

dogs that can be exercised by one person across the whole of the 
borough in order to explore opportunities to introduce a permit scheme 
with neighbouring Local Authorities and The Kennel Club.

 deferred the decision to introduce any Order on Fleetwood Nature 
Reserve, to allow further discussion with Lancashire County Council,

 authorised the Senior Solicitor to correct any minor drafting errors that 
may be identified and to make minor amendments including deletions 
and insertions that may be necessary to ensure the PSPO is accurate.

Page 3



CAB.21 Exclusion of public and press 

In accordance with Paragraph 11 of the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 
of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief Executive had determined that the 
report submitted under item 10 of the agenda was “Not for Publication” 
because it contained “exempt information”, as defined in Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

Decision taken

Cabinet agreed that the public and press be excluded from the meeting whilst 
agenda item 10 was considered, on the grounds that their presence would 
involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in category 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)) of Part 1 of
Schedule 12(a) of the Local Government Act, 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Variation Order 2006 and, that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information”.

CAB.22 Variation of Ground Lease User Clause and Receipt of Premium 
Payment to Allow A3, A4, D2 and A1 Retailing at Jubilee Business Park, 
Cleveleys Promenade 

The Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and Service Director 
Performance and Innovation submitted a report seeking Cabinet approval for 
the proposed variation of the ground lease user clause to allow A1 - retail in 
addition to A3, A4 and D2 uses at the Jubilee Business Park.

Decision taken

Cabinet approved the proposed variation to the ground lease user clause for 
the receipt of a premium payment to the council (as landlord) and the sharing 
of any uplift in value on buildings on the site should their use be changed to 
A1 retail use in the future.

The meeting started at 5.30 pm and finished at 6.01 pm.

Date of Publication: 19 October 2017

Options considered but rejected
Any alternative options that were considered but rejected, in addition to the reasons for 
the recommendations that were made, are included in the full reports.

When will these decisions be implemented?
All decisions will be put into effect five working days from the date of publication, unless a 
decision is “called-in” by any four members of the council within that period.

Page 4



 

 
 

Report of: Meeting Date Item no. 

Councillor Christine Smith, 
Chairman of the Life in Wyre task 

group and Marianne Hesketh, 
Service Director Performance 

and Innovation 

Cabinet 29 November 2017 5 

 

Life in Wyre task group – final report 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
To report the work of the Life in Wyre task group to the Cabinet. 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 

We will collaborate with our partners to better design and integrate our 
services to enable local communities to do more for themselves.  
 

3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 

That the Life in Wyre survey continue to be carried out every two years. 
 

 3.2 That a full review of the content of the survey be carried out, with 
distribution as at present, to ensure that  

 
(i) the survey is shortened if possible, written in plain English to make 

it an easier read, and any duplication removed 

 

(ii) all the questions have a direct link to how services to residents are 
delivered. 

 
 3.3 That the Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group continue to be 

invited to contribute some questions to the survey, for which a 
proportionate payment should be made. 
 

 3.4 That Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group be requested to 
ensure that questions are included in the survey that will provide greater 
insight and knowledge of mental health. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

 3.5 That a proportionate financial contribution be requested from Lancashire 
County Council in respect of relevant information routinely provided to 
them following analysis. 
 

 3.6 That the results from the survey be fed back to respondents and other 
residents in close collaboration with Fylde and Wyre Clinical 
Commissioning Group and in line with an action plan agreed for the 
purpose. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 

The Life in Wyre Resident Survey (LiW) is a household survey, jointly 
commissioned with the Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group, 
which is sent out to 3,500 households every two years. Residents can 
complete the survey online and in 2016, for the most recent survey, 324 
people did so. 
 

 4.2 The council’s Business Plan Quarterly Performance reports often refer to 
changes in satisfaction levels, as indicated by the LiW survey, as a 
measure of performance. It was the opinion of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee that if such weight is given to the outcome from the survey, it is 
important to ensure that the survey is relevant and accessible to as many 
people across the borough as possible.    
   

5. Key issues and conclusions 
 

 5.1 The task group drew the following conclusions from the evidence gathered: 
 

i. Different councils take very different approaches to resident 
surveys, some of them choosing not to do one at all (e.g. 
Lancaster) and others taking a very detailed approach similar to 
Wyre (e.g. Chorley, and to a lesser extent, South Ribble).  

 
ii. From the review of other Lancashire councils, we have found no 

other examples in which the Clinical Commissioning Group has 
their own dedicated section in the resident survey. 

 
iii. A survey of residents is a useful thing to do for a number of 

reasons - it is a means by which the council can engage with and 
listen to residents, it helps to identify service delivery issues and it 
assists with prioritising service improvements 

 
iv. The survey, as it stands, addresses the most salient issues. 

 
v. The survey feels repetitive. Duplication could be reduced. 

 
vi. The survey feels long and not always an ‘easy read’. The content 

could be rationalised and made simpler. 
 

Page 6



 

vii. The number of questions (currently 41) could be reduced but only 
at the cost of gathering less information. 

 
viii. The CCG’s continued participation in the survey is supported. 
 
ix. The health questions could include more emphasis on mental 

health. 
 

x. When information is collated for the benefit of Lancashire County 
Council there should be some direct benefit to Wyre in doing so.   

 
xi. There is often a very simple and logical explanation for any 

recorded increase or decrease in satisfaction scores. Many of 
these changes are not statistically significant. Satisfaction should 
be monitored over a longer period, not just from one survey to the 
next. Levels of satisfaction do not always reflect the reality of a 
situation (e.g. dog fouling). 

 
xii. The work of the Youth Mayor in devising a similar survey for 

younger people should be recognised and could be picked up by a 
new task group on Engaging with Children and Young People, the 
first meeting of which took place on Tuesday 10 October 2017. 

 
xiii. Raising awareness of online services was a priority for both the 

council and the CCG. 
 
xiv. Feeding the results from the survey back to respondents and other 

residents was very important for both the CCG and the council. It 
would make more sense to respondents and residents, in the 
opinion of the task group, if this feedback was given as one report. 

 
 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance All the task group’s recommendations can be contained 
within current budgets.   

Legal There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist officers 
on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There are no 
significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues marked with a 
x. 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  data protection x 

health and safety x  

  

report author telephone no. email date 

Peter Foulsham 01253 887606 Peter.foulsham@wyre.gov.uk 25/10/2017 

 
 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix A Life in Wyre Task Group – final report 
 
 
 
arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911pf1 

Page 8

mailto:Peter.foulsham@wyre.gov.uk


 

 1 

 C  
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Life in Wyre 
Task Group  

 
Final Report 

 
Chairman:  

 
Councillor Christine Smith 

 
 

Task Group Members: 
 

Councillor Emma Anderton 
Councillor Marge Anderton 

Councillor Lady Atkins 
Councillor Colette Birch 
Councillor Emma Ellison 
Councillor Patsy Ormrod 
Councillor Julie Robinson 

Councillor Matthew Vincent 
Councillor Lynn Walmsley 

Councillor Val Wilson 
 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Chairman: Councillor Michael Vincent 

 

APPENDIX 1 

Appendix A 

Page 9



 

 2 

 
 
 

 Introduction Page 3  
 

 Aims of review  
 

Page 4 

 The review process 
 

Page 4 

 Summary of evidence provided by Rosie Green (Policy and 
Performance Manager) and Councillor Vivien Taylor (Health and 
Community Engagement Portfolio Holder) 

 

Page 5 

 Summary of evidence provided by Adam Pearson, Infusion Manager, 
and Sara Ordonez, Policy and Performance Officer 

 

Page 7 

 Summary of evidence provided by Kate Hurry (Head of 
Communications, Engagement and Development) and Amanda Bate 
(Community Engagement Manager), Fylde & Wyre Clinical 
Commissioning Group  
 

Page 9 

 Other resident surveys in Lancashire 
 

Page 10 

 Life in Wyre resident survey – a critical review 
 

Page 11 

 Conclusions  
 

Page 12 

 Recommendations 
 

Page 13 

 Councillors’ attendances 
 

Page 14 

 List of appendices 
 

Page 15 

 Appendices Page 16 
 

 
  

Page 10



 

 3 

 

 
 
 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers quarterly performance reports about  
the delivery of the council’s Business Plan. 
 
A number of the performance measures in the quarterly reports refer to comparative 
satisfaction scores from the most recent Life in Wyre resident survey.  The members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have taken the view that if the satisfaction scores 
are regularly relied upon as a performance measure, they must be obtained on a sound, 
reliable and validated basis.   
 
As a consequence, members of the committee have commissioned a task group to 
review how the resident survey is compiled and how it is used to inform and improve 
services.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Introduction 

Page 11



 

 4 

 
 
 
 
The aims of the review, as specified in the scoping document (see Appendix 1), were 
as follows: 
 
o To understand the Life in Wyre Residents Survey (LIW) in terms of background, 

history, analysis, use, relevance, benefits, outcomes 
 

o To consider the results by area and highlight any differences 
 
o To explore possible reasons for the decline in reported satisfaction with (i) parks 

and open spaces, and (ii) sport and leisure facilities, and any other areas that cause 
concern 

 
o To consider the costs and benefits of Life in Wyre   
 
o To identify gaps 
 
o To identify areas for improvement (e.g. clarity, brevity, response rates)    
 
 
 
 
 
The task group held its first meeting with the Health and Community Engagement 
Portfolio Holder and the Policy and Engagement Manager.   The group subsequently 
interviewed the Policy and Performance Officer, the Infusion Manager (Infusion are 
responsible for administering and analysing the survey) and representatives of the Fylde 
and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group.   
 
Comparisons have been made with similar resident surveys used in other Lancashire 
local authorities, and a line-by-line analysis of Wyre’s current survey has been 
undertaken.   
 
  

The review process 

Aims of review 

Page 12



 

 5 

 
 
 
 
The Life in Wyre Resident Survey (LiW) is a household survey jointly commissioned with 
the Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group, which is sent out to 3,500 households 
every two years.  The survey is administered by Infusion, a not-for-profit organisation, 
which is part of Blackpool Council.  Households are randomly selected, in order to ensure 
that the survey is representative.  There was a 41% response rate to the most recent 
survey, one of the best response rates in Lancashire.   
 
The survey results helped to guide the recently adopted Campaigns Plan and are 
reflected in the council’s Business Plan.  The Democracy in Wyre campaign has been put 
in place in the light of the survey results and the Wyre Voice magazine reflects issues 
identified in LiW.   
 
The survey also incorporates a number of health questions, as agreed with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, for which they make a financial contribution.   
 
The survey is seen as providing good value for money.  In 2016 Infusion charged £8,250 
to administer and analyse the survey, of which the Fylde and Wyre Clinical 
Commissioning Group contributed £1,600 (19.4%).  The cost of Wyre staff time is not 
included.   
   
The following additional points were made about the Life in Wyre resident survey, 
prompted by questions from councillors: 
 

o Some information is gathered through LiW that is relevant to Lancashire County 
Council (LCC) (e.g. education and highways).  A report is prepared for LCC by 
Wyre officers but it is unclear whether and how the information is used by the 
county.   

 
o The public’s perception of a service does not always reflect the reality of a service 

(e.g. dog fouling). 
 

o Infusion have an in depth knowledge of the LiW survey as well as detailed 
knowledge about what the main resident issues are across Lancashire. 

 
o There is often a very simple and logical explanation for any recorded decrease or 

increase in satisfaction scores, which should be monitored as trends rather than 
simply as an increase or decrease from year to year.   
 

o The LiW survey has been used for approximately twenty years, the last two 
editions of which have included a specific section contributed by the CCG. 
 

o There is an incentive for people to return their forms; in 2016 they were included 
in a draw for a Kindle Fire. 
 

o The survey remains open for approximately three months, the Communications 
Team actively reminding and prompting potential respondents during that time. 

Summary of evidence provided by Rosie Green (Policy and Performance 
Manager) and Councillor Vivien Taylor (Health and Community Engagement 
Portfolio Holder) 
 

Page 13



 

 6 

 
In the subsequent discussion a number of comments were made by councillors about the 
current survey format.   Ideally, the survey should, in their view, be made more concise, 
an ‘easier read’ and more accessible for people with disabilities.  It might be possible to 
reduce the number of response options in the multiple choice tick-box sections, for 
example by offering the choices ‘satisfied’, ‘not satisfied’ and ‘don’t know’.  
 
It is noted, however, that the council delivers a wide range of services and it is helpful to 
get the public’s feedback on all of them.  A reduction in length and detail would inevitably 
mean a reduction in the amount of information gathered, so a balance is required. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 14



 

 7 

 
 
 
 
Adam Pearson (Infusion Manager) and Sara Ordonez (Policy and Performance Officer) 
informed the task group about the way in which the Life in Wyre Resident Survey was 
administered, analysed and interpreted.    
 
The survey has been in place for many years, and is carried out biennially.  The number 
of residents involved in the survey and the organisation administering the survey had 
changed over the years.  The current provider, Infusion, is a service provided by Blackpool 
Council, which operates on a cost recovery basis.  3,500 residents are randomly selected 
and sent a hard copy of the survey.  In addition 324 responses were received on line via 
the council’s website. 
 
It used to be mandatory for all councils to carry out a resident survey but since that 
requirement was relaxed some local authorities have chosen not to do so.  Councils also 
decide on their own content and format which makes it very difficult to make direct 
comparisons.  Wyre, for example, has recently amended its questions on 
communications, engagement and relationships with Town and Parish Councils, which 
makes year-on-year comparisons and direct comparisons with other councils impossible.     
 
It is generally an older age bracket that submit responses to the survey, but the analysis 
is weighted in order to ensure it is representative.  This is a trend that is not unique to 
Wyre and is related particularly to the postal methodology.   
 
The current Youth Mayor is developing a survey similar to ‘Life in Wyre’ for younger 
people in order to make sure that their views are considered.    
 
With an increasing number of self-selected on-line respondents there becomes a greater 
chance of bias being introduced compared with a controlled sample, but there is nothing 
that is statistically significant in Wyre’s case.  Analysis shows that similar resident 
concerns are received via the postal survey; the two are not dissimilar.   
 
There is not an easy-read, large font version of the survey available, but respondents are 
invited to request assistance to fill in the form if required.  Officers are happy to go through 
the form line by line on the telephone or in person, if that is necessary in particular 
circumstances.  Provision could be made in response to a specific request, for example, 
for translation.   
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee previously expressed concern about reported 
decreases in satisfaction levels for (i) sport and leisure services and (ii) parks and open 
spaces.  The reduction from 66% to 63% in satisfaction regarding sport and leisure 
services is relatively small and statistically insignificant when considering the margin of 
error.  For parks and open spaces the satisfaction figure is one of the highest, so that 
level cannot always be expected to be achieved.  It is also relevant that over time targets 
move and expectations are increased which make high satisfaction levels more difficult 
to achieve.  It is important to consider trends over a number of years rather than simply 
comparing two consecutive results.  
  

Summary of evidence provided by Adam Pearson, Infusion Manager, and Sara 
Ordonez, Policy and Performance Officer 
 
 

Page 15



 

 8 

On some issues the real challenge is to change perceptions, levels of satisfaction not 
always reflecting the reality of the situation.  For example, the statistics on dog fouling 
show an improvement over time although the public perception does not always 
recognise that.   
 
Many councils have questionnaires that are eight pages in length in order to cover a wide 
range of services.  The number of questions in Wyre’s survey (currently 41) could be 
reduced but only at the cost of gathering less information. There is no optimum number 
of questions; it depends completely on what the council wants to find out.  Research 
shows that the length of a survey has a direct impact on the response rate, so again a 
balance is needed.   
 
The CCG have their own section in the survey, which directly impacts on the space 
available for the council’s questions.   
 
An analysis of the responses broken down by area can be found on the council’s website 
at 
 
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/download/829/life_in_wyre_survey_results 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 16

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/download/829/life_in_wyre_survey_results


 

 9 

 
 
 
 
The Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) finds the Life in Wyre resident 
survey very valuable indeed.  The CCG has contributed its own targeted questions to the 
last two surveys (2014 and 2016) and the results have been used to triangulate with 
information gathered from other surveys and data gathering exercises.   
 
In 2014 the survey was used to find out more about episodic care and how patients make 
decisions about who they see for treatment.  People were also asked about the value of 
triage services and whether that was generally acceptable, a question that was unlikely 
to be repeated in subsequent years.  This was to inform the development of the CCG’s 
emerging new models of care at that time.  
 
The 2016 survey provided more detail about access to services including GP extended 
access appointments and why people thought that health services were important.  A 
question was also asked about people’s awareness of the CCG and it was encouraging 
to find that awareness was consistent across all wards and age groups.  Some of the 
questions in the 2016 survey were jointly agreed with the council.  These included 
questions about people’s use of online services.    
 
On the assumption that the CCG will continue to contribute to the Life in Wyre survey, the 
2018 survey would be used to help develop an awareness of the multispecialty 
community provider (MCP) care model, of which Wyre Council was a part.   
 
In response to additional questions from members of the task group Ms Bate and Ms 
Hurry made the following points: 
 

o The CCG relies very much on advice from council officers who, with Infusion, are 
more experienced in survey design. 

o The number of questions posed in the survey is governed by the information 
needed; it is not simply a case of agreeing a particular number of questions to be 
asked.  The CCG works closely with the council to agree a reasonable approach. 

o The questions asked relate to the information that health colleagues require to 
make decisions about services. 

o The task group’s suggestion that mental health requires a greater emphasis was 
noted.   

o Raising people’s awareness of online services is a priority for both the council and 
the CCG. 

o The MCP business planning process involves the council, so there can be a clear 
link between some of the questions asked in the survey by the CCG and the 
council’s services. 

o The way in which the results from the survey are fed back to respondents and 
other residents is very important for both the CCG and the council.  It would make 
more sense to respondents and residents, in the opinion of the task group, if this 
feedback was given as one report, although it was acknowledged by councillors 
that different timescales for the two organisations could sometimes make this 
difficult. 

  

Summary of evidence provided by Kate Hurry (Head of Communications, 
Engagement and Development) and Amanda Bate (Community Engagement 
Manager), Fylde & Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group  
 
  

Page 17



 

 10 

 
 
 
A review of other resident surveys in Lancashire carried out by the task group proved 
inconclusive.   
 
Since it become no longer mandatory for councils to carry out a survey according to 
prescriptive guidelines it has become clear that there is no common approach.  
Consequently making direct comparisons is very difficult to do, if not impossible.   
 
A variety of different methods are used across the county, including telephone surveys, 
Citizens Panels, stakeholder surveys, issue-based consultation panels and combinations 
of all of these.  Some councils have not run a resident survey recently (e.g. Lancaster) 
while others run them annually (e.g. Burnley).  Several others were more like Wyre in that 
they carried out a survey every two years (e.g. Chorley, Pendle and Ribble Valley).  
Fylde’s annual survey is solely website-based and only contains ten questions, while 
others, including Wyre, have over forty questions. 
 
The content also varies significantly, although Chorley and South Ribble still used survey 
documents that contained many questions that were very similar to, or the same as, 
Wyre’s.  There were no other examples in which the Clinical Commissioning Group 
contributed their own dedicated questions. 
 
A summary of information from other Lancashire councils is attached at Appendix 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Other resident surveys in Lancashire 
 
  

Page 18



 

 11 

 
 
 
The task group undertook a line-by-line review the content of the most recent Life in Wyre 
survey document. 
 
The issues that came from this analysis were as follows: 
 

i. It is useful to carry out a regular resident survey for a number of reasons – it is a 
means by which the council can engage with and listen to residents, helps to 
identify service delivery issues and assists with prioritising service improvements  
 

ii. The survey, as it stands, addresses the most salient issues. 
 

iii. The survey feels repetitive to complete.  It feels long and wordy.  Anecdotal 
evidence suggests that this is a perception shared by others, but equally there 
are other councils that use a similar format of a similar length (e.g. Chorley, 
Burnley). 
 

iv. The number of options offered to respondents (from ‘very satisfied’ to ‘very 
dissatisfied’, plus ‘never used’) is too many.  This could be simplified by offering 
less response options.   

 
v. The CCG’s continued participation is unusual, when making comparisons with 

other councils.  There is scope to make closer links between the CCG’s input 
and council services.    

   
vi. A fundamental review of the whole survey might help to address some of these 

concerns.   
 
  

Life in Wyre resident survey – a critical review 
 
  

Page 19



 

 12 

 
 
 
1) Different councils take very different approaches to resident surveys, some of them 

choosing not to do one at all (e.g. Lancaster) and others taking a very detailed 
approach similar to Wyre (e.g. Chorley, and to a lesser extent, South Ribble).  

 
2) From the review of other Lancashire councils, we have found no other examples in 

which the Clinical Commissioning Group has their own dedicated section in the 
resident survey. 

 
3) A survey of residents is a useful thing to do for a number of reasons - it is a means 

by which the council can engage with and listen to residents, it helps to identify service 
delivery issues and it assists with prioritising service improvements 

 
4) The survey, as it stands, addresses the most salient issues. 
 
5) The survey feels repetitive. Duplication could be reduced. 
 
6) The survey feels long and not always an ‘easy read’.  The content could be 

rationalised and made simpler. 
 
7) The number of questions (currently 41) could be reduced but only at the cost of 

gathering less information. 
 
8) The CCG’s continued participation in the survey is supported. 
 
9) The health questions could include more emphasis on mental health. 
 
10)  When information is collated for the benefit of Lancashire County Council there 

should be some direct benefit to Wyre in doing so.   
 
11)  There is often a very simple and logical explanation for any recorded increase or 

decrease in satisfaction scores.  Many of these changes are not statistically 
significant.  Satisfaction should be monitored over a longer period, not just from one 
survey to the next.  Levels of satisfaction do not always reflect the reality of a situation 
(e.g. dog fouling). 

 
12)  The work of the Youth Mayor in devising a similar survey for younger people should 

be recognised and could be picked up by a new task group on Engaging with Children 
and Young People, the first meeting of which took place on Tuesday 10 October 2017. 

 
13)  Raising awareness of online services was a priority for both the council and the CCG. 
 
14)  Feeding the results from the survey back to respondents and other residents was 

very important for both the CCG and the council.  It would make more sense to 
respondents and residents, in the opinion of the task group, if this feedback was given 
as one report. 

 
  

Conclusions 
  

Page 20



 

 13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION ONE 
 

That the Life in Wyre survey continue to be carried out every two years. 
 
RECOMMENDATION TWO 
 

That a full review of the content of the survey be carried out, with distribution as 
at present, to ensure that  
 

(i) the survey is shortened if possible, written in plain English to make 

it an easier read, and any duplication removed 

 

(ii) all the questions have a direct link to how services to residents are 

delivered. 

RECOMMENDATION THREE 
 

That the Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group continue to be invited to 
contribute some questions to the survey, for which a proportionate payment 
should be made. 

 
RECOMMENDATION FOUR 
 

That Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group be requested to ensure that 
questions are included in the survey that will provide greater insight and 
knowledge of mental health. 

 
RECOMMENDATION FIVE  
 

That a proportionate financial contribution be requested from Lancashire County 
Council in respect of relevant information routinely provided to them following 
analysis. 

 
RECOMMENDATION SIX 
 

That the results from the survey be fed back to respondents and other residents 
in close collaboration with Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group and in 
line with an action plan agreed for the purpose. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Recommendations 
  

Page 21



 

 14 

 
 
 

 
There were five meetings of the task group.    
 
 
 

 
Name 

 

 
Meetings attended  

(maximum 5)* 
 

 
Councillor E Anderton 
 

 
2 

 
Councillor M Anderton 
 

 
3 

 
Councillor Lady Atkins 
 

 
4 

 
Councillor C Birch 
 

 
4 

 
Councillor Ellison 
 

 
3 

 
Councillor Ormrod 
 

 
5 

 
Councillor Robinson 
 

 
3 

 
Councillor Smith 
 

 
5 

 
Councillor Matthew Vincent 
 

 
3 

 
Councillor Walmsley 
 

 
4 

 
Councillor Wilson 
 

 
5 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Councillors’ attendances 

Page 22



 

 15 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1  Life in Wyre Task Group – Scoping Document – FINAL 
 
Appendix 2  Resident Surveys in Lancashire – a summary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31 October 2017 

List of Appendices 

Page 23



 

 16 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Life in Wyre Task Group – Scoping Document - FINAL 
 
 

Review Topic Life in Wyre Residents’ Survey 
 

Chairman 
 

Councillor Christine Smith 

Group Membership Councillors Emma Anderton, Marge Anderton, Lady Atkins, Colette Birch 
(Vice Chairman), Emma Ellison, Patsy Ormrod, Julie Robinson, Matthew 
Vincent, Lynn Walmsley and Val Wilson. 
 

Officer Support Peter Foulsham, Scrutiny Officer 
 

Purpose of the 
Review 
 

To review the Life in Wyre Survey and to better understand its use and 
identify areas for improvement to ensure the Council gets best value from 
the survey. 
 

Role of Overview 
and Scrutiny in this 
Review  
(mark all that apply) 

Holding  Executive to account – decisions 
 
Existing budget and policy framework   
 
Contribution to policy development 
 
Holding Executive to account – performance 
 
Community champion 
 
Statutory duties / compliance with codes of practice 
 

Aims of Review o To understand the Life in Wyre Residents Survey (LIW) in terms of:  
background, history, analysis, use, relevance, benefits, outcomes 

o To consider the results by area and highlight any differences 
o To explore possible reasons for the decline in reported satisfaction 

with (i) parks and open spaces, and (ii) sport and leisure facilities, 
and any other areas that cause concern 

o To consider the costs and benefits of Life in Wyre   
o To identify gaps 
o To identify areas for improvement (e.g. clarity, brevity, response 

rates)    
 

Methodology Interviewing witnesses at task group meetings 
Reviewing literature 
Benchmarking with other local authorities 
 
 

  

X 

 

 

 

 

X 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 24



 

 17 

Scope of Review 
 

The review will be limited to the section of the LIW Survey which relates 
directly to Wyre Council.   
It will exclude the Clinical Commissioning Group’s section entitled 
‘Community-Based Health Services’. 
 

Potential Witnesses o Health and Community Engagement Portfolio Holder 
o Wyre Council officers 
o Representative from Infusion, research and consultation contractors 

(Adam Pearson) 
o Representatives from other councils 

 

Documents to be 
considered 

Life in Wyre questionnaire 
Reports to Council and Cabinet 
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/download/829/life_in_wyre_surve
y_results 
Comparative data from Family Group of Local Authorities 
 

Risks None identified.  
 

Level of Publicity Low 
 

Indicators of a 
Successful Review 

o Recommendations for areas for improvement 
o Recommendation(s) about future residents surveys and/or how the 

council might collect residents’ opinions about the council and partner 
services. 

 

Intended Outcomes Clear evidence base in place to make informed decisions 
 

Approximate 
Timeframe 
 

3 months 

Projected Start Date 18 May 2017 
 

 
 

Revised 5 June 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911pf1 Appendix A 

Page 25

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/download/829/life_in_wyre_survey_results
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/download/829/life_in_wyre_survey_results


APPENDIX 2

Council Survey - type and frequency Additional information

Blackpool Household telephone survey last conducted in 2014
Random sample, many of the traditional satisfaction questions

Burnley Annual satisfaction survey Combination of Citizens’ Panel and online survey

Chorley Bi-annual resident satisfaction survey. Last one 2015
Very similar to our survey; 8 pages, 28 questions.  No CCG input.

Fylde Ongoing online resident satisfaction survey Last available results are from 2015

Lancashire County Council
No longer tracks satisfaction or has a Life in Lancashire panel

Lancaster Street-based residents survey a couple of years ago Not done anything recently but looking at it again now
Pendle Bi-annual perception survey; combination of Citizens’ 

Panel and online survey, but also some shorter street 

interviews and focus group with young people

Preston Issue-based consultation panel
Ribble Valley Bi-annual satisfaction survey Combination of Citizens’ Panel and online survey

Rossendale Ran a  residents’ survey last year which included some 

satisfaction questions

More of a consultation relating to their business plan 

including open-access online and paper options
South Ribble Not carried out a resident survey for many years Following recent difficulties the LGA commissioned a survey 

of 550 residents in Jan/Feb 2017.  19 questions covering very 

similar subjects to Wyre
West Lancs Annual Citizen and Stakeholder  survey; random postal 

sample

Occasionally run a policy option survey as well

Resident Surveys in Lancashire - a summary

arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911pf1 Appendix A Appendix 2

P
age 26



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date Item no. 

Councillor Alan Vincent, 
Leader and Resources 

Portfolio Holder and 
Garry Payne, 

Chief Executive 

Cabinet 29 November 2017 6 

 

Proposal to Dissolve the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Economic Development 
Company and Form an Economic Prosperity Board 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

To consider a more efficient and effective way of managing the governance 
of the economic development agenda across the Fylde Coast.  
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 

To introduce a stronger and more robust governance framework for the 
economic development agenda across the Fylde Coast with greater 
political accountability. 
 
To attract investment to the Fylde Coast and support businesses to 
survive, grow and prosper. 
 

3. Recommendation/s 
 

 3.1 
 
 

To recommend to full Council that the Leader of the Council be authorised, 
in his role as ‘member’ of the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Economic 
Development Company Limited (Company No: 05001989) (EDC), to 
dissolve the aforementioned company.  
 

 3.2 Subject to 3.1 above, to establish a Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Economic 
Prosperity Board (EPB) in the form of a Joint Committee and approve the 
Procedure Rules for that Board (see Appendix 1). 
 

 3.3 Subject to 3.1 above, to confirm that the Leader of the Council will be the 
Authority’s representative on the EPB and that the Leader of the Council 
be authorised, in accordance with the Procedure Rules of the EPB, to 
appoint a substitute member to attend in his absence, should the need 
arise. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



 3.4 
 
 
 
 
3.5 

Subject to 3.1 above, that the servicing of the EPB be undertaken on a 
rotational basis between the constituent authorities and the EPB at its first 
meeting agree which Authority will commence with that role as the ‘Host 
Authority’. 
 
Subject to 3.1 above, that at its first meeting the EPB be asked to consider 
which Authority will be the ‘Lead Authority’ in terms of carrying out the 
economic development functions delegated to the EPB. 
 

 3.6 Subject to 3.1 above, to invite Lancashire County Council to be a member 
of the EPB on the basis as set out in the Procedure Rules in Appendix 1. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 

In June 2016 a revised set of articles of association for the Blackpool, Fylde 
and Wyre Economic Development Company (EDC) were agreed by the 
Board and subsequently approved by the ‘members’ (the Leaders of the 
three Councils, Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre). These revised articles were 
intended to bring the articles up to date and reflect changes such as the 
departure of Lancashire County Council from the company. 
 

 4.2 As part of that process, a governance review was undertaken with a view 
to changing the articles to reflect new responsibilities including the 
programme for managing delivery of the Blackpool Airport and Hillhouse 
Technology Enterprise Zones.  

 
 4.3 Part of the review also involved the examination of examples of similar 

arrangements elsewhere across the country. Views were sought and 
feedback received from the Local Government Association (LGA), who 
encouraged partners to consider a series of options, some of which 
represented new ideas beyond the original remit of the review. 

 
 4.4 Based on this review of the EDC’s current purpose and function and the 

scope of strategic economic development on the Fylde Coast, it was 
acknowledged that consideration should be given to alternative models of 
delivering the kind of governance required. For example, in many areas 
local partners and clusters of Local Authorities in functional economic 
areas deliver what is required through an ‘Economic Prosperity 
Committee’. In the context of the Fylde coast, such a committee would 
comprise of the three councils, with partners (co-opted members), as 
opposed to the existing company structure. Such an arrangement would 
deliver effective oversight on the work being undertaken in the Enterprise 
Zones, political interface and accountability on strategic policy areas for 
the Fylde coast and the link with the Lancashire Enterprise Partnership. 

 
 4.5 The review has indicated that a company by its nature is a ‘clunky’ and 

inefficient way of delivering joined-up working on economic development. 
A company does not naturally have an oversight role with councils whose 
representatives make up its Board (i.e. the Chief Executives) and also 
there are a number of overheads with a company that are not necessary 

Page 28



for the duties required such as the production of accounts (whether trading 
or not), producing an annual confirmation statement, filing returns/ 
associated fees and paying for insurances for Directors. There is also no 

direct political accountability in the current set up.  
   
5. Key issues and proposals 

 
 5.1 

 
 

A Joint Committee is recommended as the most efficient and effective way 
of managing the governance arrangements to progress the economic 
development agenda across the Fylde Coast. In considering the formation 
of a Joint Committee, a number of areas of good practice were reviewed 

and attached at Appendix 1 is a proposed set of Procedure Rules.  
 

 5.2 Although legally it will be a Joint Committee, it is recommended that it be 
known as an Economic Prosperity Board. In addition to the three Leaders 
of the Council, there be three co-opted members drawn from the private 
sector, to reflect the important contribution made by private sector 
representatives under the former EDC.  
 

 5.3 The EDC has proved a good vehicle for officer collaboration. The three 
Chief Executives now meet on a regular basis and will act as principal 
advisers to the new Board. In terms of formally supporting the Board, it is 
recommended that the servicing of the Board on a constitutional basis be 
done by rotation (unless otherwise agreed by the Board) and that one of 
the constituent Authorities acts as the ‘Lead Authority’ in terms of 
undertaking the economic duties delegated to the Board. 

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 

 No additional costs have been identified at this stage. It is 
anticipated that requirements on officer time can be met 
from existing resources. If additional costs are identified at 
a later date then, where appropriate, these will be shared 
across the constituent authorities. 
 

Legal 

A Joint Committee can be formed pursuant to powers under 
the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and under the 
Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of 
Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
The dissolution of EDC will be carried out in accordance 
with the legal procedures set out in the Companies Act 
2006. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Other risks/implications: checklist 
 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist officers 
on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There are no 
significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues marked with a 
x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  data protection x 

health and safety x  

 
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Marianne Hesketh 01253 887350 Marianne.hesketh@wyre.gov.uk 26/10/17 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   

 
 
List of appendices 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Proposed Procedure Rules for the EPB. 
 
 
 
 
 
arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911mh1 

Page 30

mailto:Marianne.hesketh@wyre.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 

The Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Economic Prosperity Board – 
Procedure Rules 

1.0 Purpose 
1.1 The purpose of the Economic Prosperity Board (‘EPB’) will be to bring together local authority 

partners in a robust, formally constituted arrangement which will help shape and drive 
economic development across the Fylde Coast. This will be undertaken by collaboration and 
mutual co-operation. The fact that some functions will be discharged jointly by way of these 
procedure rules does not prohibit any of the constituent authorities from promoting economic 
wellbeing in their own areas, independent of the Board. 

 
2.0  Governance 
2.1  The EPB will act as a Joint Committee pursuant to powers under the Local Government Acts 

1972 and 2000 and under the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012.  

 
2.2  The EPB will comprise of Blackpool Borough Council, Fylde Borough Council and Wyre Borough 

Council (“constituent authorities") and three co-opted members, one each from each 
constituent area. Any reference to ‘executive’, ‘executive arrangements’, ‘executive function’ or 
‘committee system’ has the meaning given by Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000. 

 
2.3 The EPB is not a self-standing legal entity but is part of its constituent authorities. Any legal 

commitment entered into pursuant of a decision of the EPB must be made by all constituent 
authorities. 

 
2.4  Political Proportionality rules will not apply to the EPB as so constituted.  
 
2.5 The EPB may establish sub-committees or advisory groups, to undertake elements of its work, if 

required. 
 
2.6 The EPB has powers delegated to it by the constituent authorities in the following areas: 
 

a)  to review future governance requirements and delivery arrangements and how these can 
be best achieved on the Fylde Coast; 

 
b)  to have direct oversight of key economic growth focussed projects and initiatives that the 

EPB has influence over the funding of; 
 
c)  to have strategic oversight of other key growth focussed projects and initiatives across the 

Fylde Coast, and;  
 

d)  to lobby and carry out other activities that help achieve the promotion or improvement of 
economic wellbeing on the Fylde coast. 

 
The EPB will not hold funds or monies on behalf of the constituent authorities. 
 
 Page 31



Appendix 1 
 

2.7 Each constituent authority operating executive arrangements will be responsible for considering 
whether it is necessary [in order to comply with Access to Information legislation regarding the 
publication of agendas including Forward Plan requirements] to treat prospective decisions as 
‘key decisions’ and/ or have them included in their Forward Plan. A constituent authority 
operating a committee system will apply its own local statutory procedures. 

 
3.0  Remit 
3.1  The remit of the EPB will be to provide political and democratic accountability and in doing so: 
 

a)  act as the key strategic forum for economic development issues on the Fylde coast and 
to make recommendations to the Lancashire Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and other 
bodies on economic development investments and other priorities;  

 
b) have insight and the opportunity to review the LEP Board’s activities and consider any 

further measures necessary to strengthen the relationship with the LEP Board; 
 
c) co-ordinate and monitor investment plans of the constituent authorities pertaining to 

economic growth at the discretion of the individual authorities;  
 

d) act as the Programme Board for Hillhouse Technology and Blackpool Airport Enterprise 
Zones (EZ’s) and report into the LEP and its EZ Governance Committee as appropriate;  

 
e) seek to ensure that adequate resources are made available to enable the delivery of 

Hillhouse Technology and Blackpool Airport EZs and other key Fylde coast economic 
development priorities and projects; 

 
f) actively engage with a range of businesses on the Fylde coast in relation to economic 

development decision making and to engage with other stakeholders where appropriate;  
 

g) consider and advise on the appropriateness and viability of alternative, successor 
economic governance arrangements, and;  

 
h) co-ordinate and agree wider place-making policy within the Fylde coast economic 

footprint, wherever possible. 
 

4.0  Membership 
4.1  Membership will consist of one member from each constituent authority. Such member to be 

the Leader of the Council or other executive member, in an authority operating executive 
arrangements (or Leader of the Council or committee chairman, or vice chairman from a council 
operating committee system arrangements) and for the purposes of these procedure rules, this 
member will be known as the ‘principal member’.  

 
4.2 Each principal member to have a named substitute member who must be an executive member 

where the authority operates executive arrangements. Where governance in a constituent 
authority is by a committee system form of governance, that substitute member shall be as per 
that authority’s rules of substitution. All constituent authorities must provide no less than 
twenty four hours’ notice to the Secretary where a substitute member will be attending in place Page 32



Appendix 1 
 

of the principal member. Regardless of any such notification, where both the principal member 
and the substitute member attends a meeting of the EPB, the principal member shall be 
deemed as representing their authority. 

 
4.3  In the event of any principal member of the EPB ceasing to be a member of the constituent 

authority which appointed him/her, the relevant constituent authority shall as soon as 
reasonably practicable appoint another principal member in his/her place. 

 
4.4   Each constituent authority may remove its principal member or substitute member and appoint 

a different member or substitute as per that authority’s rules of substitution and by providing 
twenty-four hours’ notice to the Secretary. 

 
4.5  There will be co-opted members appointed to the Board, with the number of co-opted members 

being the same as the number of constituent authorities. Each co-opted member will represent 
their relevant constituent area and the appointment and term of office of these co-opted 
members will be determined by formal decision of the Board. There are no substitute 
arrangements for co-opted members. 

 
4.6  Each constituent authority may individually terminate its membership of the EPB by providing 

six months’ written notice of its intent to leave the EPB to the Secretary. At the end of these six 
months, but not before, the authority will be deemed to no longer be a member of the EPB. 

 
4.7  Where an authority has previously terminated its membership of the EPB it may re-join the EPB 

with immediate effect on the same terms as existed prior to its departure, where the EPB agrees 
to that authority re-joining via a majority vote. 

 
4.8 Any other qualifying authority seeking to be a constituent member, may join the Board with 

immediate effect on the terms set out in these procedure rules, where the EPB agrees to that 
authority joining via a majority vote. 

 
5.0  Quorum 
5.1  The quorum shall be two constituent authority members and one co-opted member with a 

requirement that each of the three authority areas be represented (either an authority member 
or co-opted member from each constituent area must be present). Should the constituent 
authorities change in number the quorum will be increased to reflect the change, the precise 
arrangements to be determined by agreement. No business will be transacted at a meeting 
unless a quorum exists at the beginning of a meeting. If at the beginning of any meeting, the 
Chairman or Secretary after counting the members present declares that a quorum is not 
present, the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

 
6.0  Chairman and Vice Chairman 
6.1  The chairmanship of the EPC will rotate annually between each of the principal members. The 

Chairman or in his/her absence the Vice-Chairman (if one is appointed) or in his/her absence the 
member of the EPB elected for this purpose, shall preside at any meeting of the EPB. 

 
6.2  Appointments will be made for a maximum period not extending beyond each principal 

member’s remaining term of office as a councillor.  Page 33



Appendix 1 
 

6.3  Where, at any meeting or part of a meeting of the EPB both the Chairman and Vice Chairman (if 
appointed) are either absent or unable to act as Chairman or Vice Chairman, the EPB shall elect 
one of the principal members of the EPB present at the meeting to preside for the balance of 
that meeting or part of the meeting, as appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, the role of 
Chairman and Vice- Chairman (if appointed) vests in the principal member concerned and in 
their absence the role of Chairman or Vice-Chairman (if appointed) will not automatically fall to 
the relevant constituent Authority’s substitute member. 

 
7.0  Voting 
7.1  The EPB’s decision making will operate on the basis of mutual co-operation and consent and will 

take into account the views of the co-opted members. It is expected that decisions will be taken 
on a consensual basis wherever possible. Where a formal vote is required it shall be one vote for 
each constituent authority, made by the principal member, or in their absence, their nominated 
substitute. Co-opted members are not permitted to have a vote. 

 
7.2  All questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the members present, the Chairman 

having the casting vote in addition to his/her vote as a member of the Committee. Voting at 
meetings shall be by show of hands. 

 
7.3  Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting, if any member so requests, there shall be 

recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting whether each person cast his/ her 
vote for or against the matter or whether he/ she abstained from voting. 

 
8.0  Hosting, Administration and Lead Authority 
8.1  The EPB will be hosted by each constituent authority in turn, with the rota determined by a 

formal decision of the Board and the host authority’s Monitoring Officer shall be Secretary to 
the Board (‘the Secretary’) (the position may be taken by a representative on their behalf). The 
Host Authority will also identify representatives to provide relevant financial, governance and 
legal advice to the EPB. For the avoidance of doubt, the Monitoring Officer of the host authority 
shall be ‘Proper Officer’ for the purposes of publishing the agendas, background papers and 
recording decisions. The historic official records of the EPB will pass to each host authority. The 
administrative costs of supporting the Board will be met equally by the constituent authorities, 
with each authority being responsible for receiving and paying any travel or subsistence claims 
from its own members, or co-opted members representing that area. 

 
8.2 A ‘Lead Authority’ will be appointed by a formal decision of the EPB to deliver the economic 

development functions delegated to the Board. This Lead Authority, may be the same as the 
Host Authority, or may be another constituent authority.  

 
8.3 The functions of the Secretary shall be: 
 

a)  to maintain a record of membership of the EPB and any sub-committees or advisory 
groups appointed;  

b)  to summon meetings of the EPB or any sub-committees or advisory groups; 
c)  to prepare and send out the agenda for meetings of the EPB or any subcommittees or 

advisory groups; in consultation with the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Board 
(or sub-committee/ advisory group); Page 34



Appendix 1 
 

d)  to keep a record of the proceedings of the EPB or any sub-committees or advisory 
groups, including those in attendance, declarations of interests and to publish the 
minutes; 

e)  to take such administrative action as may be necessary to give effect to decisions of the 
EPB or any sub-committees or advisory groups, and; 

f)  to perform such other functions as may be determined by the EPB from time to time. 
 

9.0  Meetings 
9.1  The EPB will meet no less than quarterly, unless the EPB formally decides otherwise.  
 
9.2  Meetings will be held at such times, dates and places as may be notified to the members of the 

EPB by the Secretary, being such time, place and location as the EPB shall from time to time 
resolve. Meeting papers will be circulated five clear working days in advance of any meeting.  

 
9.3 The Chairman may choose to accept or reject urgent items that are circulated in a shorter 

timescale or tabled at any meeting. Any such urgent items will be by reason of ‘special 
circumstances’ and will be specified in the minutes, as to the reason the Chairman is of the 
opinion that the item should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

 
9.4 ‘Special circumstances’ justifying an item being considered as a matter of urgency will relate to 

both why the decision could not be made at a meeting allowing proper time for inspection by 
the public as well as why the item or report could not have been available five clear days before 
the meeting. 

 
9.5  Additional ad hoc meetings may be called by the Secretary, after consultation, where 

practicable, with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Committee (if one is appointed), in 
response to receipt of a request in writing, which request sets out an urgent item of business 
within the functions of the EPB, addressed to the Secretary: 

 
(a)  from and signed by two members of the EPB, or 
(b)  from the Chief Executive of any of the constituent authorities. 

 
9.6 The Secretary shall settle the agenda for any meeting of the EPB after consulting, where 

practicable, the Chairman or in their absence the Vice Chairman (if one is appointed); and shall 
incorporate in the agenda any items of business and any reports submitted by: 
(a)  the Chief Executive of any of the constituent authorities; 
(b)  the officers responsible for legal, governance, finance and economic development at any 

of the constituent authorities; 
(c)  any Member of the EPB. 
 

9.7 The EPB shall, unless the person presiding at the meeting or the EPB determines otherwise in 
respect of that meeting, conduct its business in accordance with these procedure rules. 

 
10.0 Access to Information 
10.1  Meetings of the EPB will be held in public except where confidential or exempt information, as 

defined in the Local Government Act 1972, is being discussed. Only members of the EPB and 
Page 35



Appendix 1 
 

relevant advising officers from the constituent authorities and any person referred to in 
paragraph 11.2 below, will be permitted to be present for such items.  

 
10.2  These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere under the 

law. 
 
10.3  The Secretary will ensure that the relevant legislation relating to access to information is 

complied with. Each constituent authority is to co-operate with the Secretary in fulfilling any 
requirements. 

 
10.4  Any Freedom of Information Act requests received by the EPB should be directed to the relevant 

constituent authority for that authority to deal with in the usual way, taking account of the 
relevant legislation. Where the request relates to information held by two or more constituent 
authorities, they will liaise with each other before replying to the request. 

 
11.0  Attendance at meetings 
11.1  The Chairman may invite any person, whether a member or officer of one of the constituent 

authorities or a third party, to attend the meeting and speak on any matter before the EPB. 
 

11.2  Where agenda items require independent experts or speakers, the officer or authority 
proposing the agenda item should indicate this to the Secretary and provide the Secretary with 
details of who is required to attend and in what capacity. The participation of independent 
experts or speakers in EPB meetings will be subject to the discretion of the Chairman. 

 
12.0  Order of Business 
12.1  Subject to paragraph 12.2, the order of business at each meeting of the EPB will be: 

i.   Apologies for absence 
ii.  Declarations of interests 
iii.  Approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last meeting 
iv.  Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting which will clearly indicate which are key 

decisions and which are not and which items are subject to ‘call in’, in accordance with 
procedure rule 18.1. 

v.  Matters on the agenda for the meeting which, in the opinion of the Secretary are likely 
to be considered in the absence of the press and public. 

12.2  The person presiding at the meeting may vary the order of business at the meeting. 
 
13.0  Codes of Conduct and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
13.1  Principal members of the EPB (and their substitute members) are governed by the provisions of 

their own Council’s Codes and Protocols including the code of conduct for members and the 
rules on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. Co-opted members are governed by the code of 
conduct for members of the ‘Lead Authority’. 
 

14.0  Minutes 
14.1 There will be no discussion or motion made in respect of the minutes, except as to their 

accuracy. If no such question is raised or if it is raised then as soon as it has been disposed of, 
the Chairman shall sign the minutes. 

 Page 36



Appendix 1 
 

15.0  Role of the Chairman 
15.1 A Member wishing to speak shall address the Chairman and direct their comments to the 

question being discussed. The Chairman shall decide the order in which to take representations 
from members wishing to speak and shall decide all questions of order. His/her ruling upon all 
such questions or upon matters arising in debate shall be final and shall not be open to 
discussion. 

 
15.2 The Chairman shall have the discretion to regulate the behaviour of all individuals present at the 

meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting, including excluding members of 
the press and public in the event of a disturbance. 

 
16.0  Motions / Amendments 
16.1 A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and seconded. 

When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the following: 
 

i. To amend the motion  
ii. To adjourn the meeting 
iii. To adjourn the debate or consideration of the item 
iv. To proceed to the next business 
v. That the question now be put 
vi. That a member be not further heard or do leave the meeting 
vii. To exclude the press and public under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
17.0  Application to Sub-Committees 
17.1  These procedure rules shall apply to meetings of any sub-committees of the EPB. 
 
18.0  Scrutiny of decisions 
18.1  Decisions of the EPB which relate to the executive functions of a constituent authority will be 

subject to scrutiny and ‘call-in’ arrangements (or any other arrangements equivalent to ‘call-in’ 
that any constituent authority operating a committee system, may have). This would only apply 
where the decision is one which could have been made locally by that constituent Authority 
acting alone. No decision in this circumstance shall be implemented until the call-in period has 
either expired or if ‘called-in’ the matter concluded, in accordance with the call-in procedures of 
the relevant constituent Authority.  

 
19.0  Winding up of the EPB 
19.1  The EPB may be wound up immediately by a unanimous vote of all constituent authorities. 
 
20.0  Amendment of these Procedure Rules. 
20.1  These Procedure Rules can only be amended by unanimous resolution of the EPB, following the 

consideration of advice from the Monitoring Officers of each of the constituent authorities. 
 

 

 
arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911mh1 Appendix 1 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date Item No. 

Councillor Peter Murphy, 
Planning and Economic 
Development Portfolio 

Holder and Garry Payne, 
Chief Executive 

Cabinet  29 November 2017 7 

 

Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

 
1. Purpose of report 

 

 1.1 
 

The purpose of the report is to consider and recommend the content of the 
Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017. 
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 

Compliance with Section 113 of the Localism Act 2011 which requires the 
publication of an Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR).  
 

3. Recommendation/s 
 

 3.1 
 

That subject to the inclusion of any minor editorial alterations, the 
Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 as set out in Appendix 1 be 
approved by Cabinet and made available for public inspection. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The preparation of Annual Monitoring Reports ceased on 15 January 2012 
when section 113 of the Localism Act came into force. This removes the 
requirement for Annual Monitoring Reports to be made to the Secretary of 
State. However, councils are still required to prepare reports, now known 
as 'Authorities' Monitoring Reports' (AMR). The Act requires councils to 
publish this information direct to the public at least annually in the interests 
of transparency. 
 
The AMR is the main mechanism for assessing the performance and 
effects of Wyre’s Development Plan and the timescales for preparing 
planning documents. Thus it acts to feed into plan preparation, and as such 
forms critical evidence for the new Local Plan for Wyre Council. 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This is the 13th AMR for Wyre Council and the purpose is therefore as 
follows: 
 

 To monitor the key characteristics of Wyre as a wider contextual 
setting for Local Plan monitoring. 

 To assess the current saved planning policies of the Wyre Borough 
Adopted Local Plan and the policies contained within the adopted 
Fleetwood-Thornton AAP, including their effectiveness, and the 
impacts they have on the Borough.  

 To review the progress in terms of preparation of the Local Plan 
against the Local Development Scheme (LDS).  
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 

 
5.4 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
5.8 
 

The demographic structure of Wyre poses issues for the future. In 
particular, the ageing population, in-migration and projected population 
growth have implications for housing and provision of services. 
 
The Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) has now been revoked (20 May 2013) 
and it is now up to the Council to determine their objectively assessed 
housing need (OAN) as required by national policy. An OAN figure of 479 
dwellings per annum was accepted at Full Council meeting 14 April 2016. 
The OAN figure is based on the latest full assessment of housing needs as 
set out in the Fylde Coast Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
and accompanying addendums.  
 
Since 2011, there has been an additional 1,646 dwellings built which 
equates to approximately 274 dwellings per annum. In the year 2016–
2017, a total 4551 dwellings were completed. This current rate is somewhat 
below the OAN range set out in the SHMA. 
 
The percentage of dwellings (50%) built on Previously Developed Land 
(PDL) was below the council’s target (60%) for the first time in eight years.  
 
Out of the 4551 dwellings completed, 1041 were affordable. This was above 
the council’s target of 70 additional affordable dwellings.  
 
There was an additional 14,528 square metres of additional employment 
(Use Class B) floorspace developed. Of this, 89% was on PDL. 
 
No planning applications were granted contrary to Environment Agency 
advice.   
 
There was a total 31 Feed in Tariff installations in Wyre generating 
approximately 7.374 megawatts of renewable energy. 

                                            
1There is a slight discrepancy between the figures reported in the Council’s Business Plan Performance Reports 

(sourced from the TEN monitoring system) and the AMR. This is because sometimes data returns from sources 
outside the Council are received after the tight deadlines set for TEN but within the timescales to be included in 
the AMR. The 2016/17 Quarter 4 Performance Report (Jan-Mar) states 453 net completions and 103 affordable 
dwellings. 

Page 40



5.9 
 
 
 
 
5.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Since adoption (2009) of The Fleetwood-Thornton AAP there has been a 
total of 532 dwellings built within the AAP area up to 31 March 2017 and 
98 of these are affordable homes. A further 280 dwellings are either under 
construction or have planning permission.  
 
To inform the development of the new Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031) the 
council produced for public consultation an ‘Issues and Options’ document. 
The consultation was carried out from 17 June to 7 August 2015. During 
2016-2017, the planning policy team have been developing a more 
comprehensive evidence base and preparing for public consultation 
(September 2017) the Publication Draft Wyre Local Plan, with adoption 
anticipated during 2018. 

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance There are no direct finance implications. 

Legal 
This document is required to comply with Government 
guidance and legislation. 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist officers 
on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There are no 
significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues marked with a 
x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community Safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity   climate change  

sustainability   data protection x 

health and safety x  

 

report author telephone no. email date 

Daniel Phillips 01253 887302 daniel.phillips@wyre.gov.uk 3 November 2017 

 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None    

 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Draft Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911dp1 
Page 41



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wyre Council  

Wyre Local Plan Evidence Base 
 

Authorities Monitoring Report 
2016-2017

Page 42

lmilnes
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
Blank Page 

 
 

Authorities Monitoring 
Report 

 

Page 43



Wyre Council 

 

Disclaimer 

Alternative Formats 

If you would like this information in another language or format please contact ConnectWyre 
on 01253 891000 

 

Copyright notice 

All maps and plans in this study report are reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with 
the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery 
Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction may lead to prosecution or civil 
proceedings. Wyre Borough Council Licence 100018720, 2017 

Page 44



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

3 

Contents 
1 Introduction .................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1 The Authorities Monitoring Report 5 

1.2 Structure 5 

1.3 Indicators 6 

1.4 Census 2011 6 

1.5 Regional Spatial Strategies 6 

1.6 Wyre’s Development Plan 7 

1.7 Limitations 7 

2 Geography and Society ............................................................................................... 8 

2.1 Spatial Characteristics of Wyre 8 

2.2 Demography 8 

2.3 Population of Wyre 9 

2.4 Population Structure 9 

2.5 Population Density 10 

2.6 Migration and Natural Change 11 

2.7 Socio-cultural issues 12 

2.8 Ethnic composition 12 

2.9 Deprivation 12 

2.10 Crime 13 

2.11 Health and Lifestyles 14 

2.12 Conclusion 14 

3 Promoting Sustainable Development ........................................................................16 

3.1 Introduction 16 

3.2 Core Output Indicator E3: Renewable energy generation 16 

3.3 Significant Effect Indicators: Environmental Issues (energy consumption) 17 

3.4 Local Output Indicator: New Cycle Routes 17 

3.5 Local Output Indicator: Code for Sustainable Homes 17 

3.6 Indicator Analysis 17 

3.7 Policy Conclusions 18 

4 Housing ........................................................................................................................19 

4.1 Introduction 19 

4.2 Core Output Indicator H1 and H2: Housing Target and Net additional dwellings 19 

4.3 Local Output Indicator: Five year supply 19 

4.4 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 20 

4.5 Core Output Indicator H3: New and converted dwellings - on previously 

 developed land 21 

4.6 Core Output Indicator H4: Net additional pitches (Gypsies and Travellers) 21 

4.7 Core Output Indicator H5: Affordable housing completions and future delivery 21 

4.8 Local Output Indicator: Self-Build and Custom Build Register 21 

4.9 Vacant dwellings 22 

4.10 Indicator Analysis 22 

4.11 Policy Conclusions 23 

 

Page 45



Wyre Council 

4 

5 Economy ......................................................................................................................24 

5.1 Introduction 24 

5.2 Economic Activity 24 

5.3 Employment by Occupation 24 

5.4 Core Output Indicator BD1 and BD2: Total amount of additional employment 
floorspace and amount of floorspace on previously developed land – by Type 25 

5.5 Core Output Indicator BD3:  Employment Land Supply 25 

5.6 Core Output Indicator BD4: Total amount of floorspace for ‘town centre uses’ 26 

5.7 Indicator Analysis 26 

5.8 Policy Conclusions 26 

6 Environment ................................................................................................................27 

6.1 Introduction 27 

6.2 Environmental Assets 27 

6.3 Core Output Indicator E2: Change in areas of biodiversity importance 29 

6.4 Local Output Indicator: Green Belt 29 

6.5 Core Output Indicator E1: Number of planning permissions granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice on flooding and water quality grounds 30 

6.6 Significant Effect Indicators: Environmental Issues (air quality) 31 

6.7 Local Output Indicator: Open Space 31 

6.8 Indicator Analysis 31 

6.9 Policy Conclusions 32 

7 Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan ......................................................................33 

7.1 Introduction 33 

7.2 Plan Objective 1: Protect and Enhance the Natural and Built Environment. 33 

7.3 Plan Objective 2: Encourage Housing Choice 34 

7.4 Plan Objective 3: Encourage Employment Opportunities 35 

7.5 Plan Objective 4: Improve Accessibility and Movement throughout the Plan Area 36 

7.6 Plan Objective 5: Ensure Provision of Accessible Local Services and Facilities 37 

7.7 Plan Objective 6: Encourage Recreational Activity and Tourism 38 

7.8 Plan Objective 7: Encourage Sustainable Patterns of Development 38 

7.9 AAP Key Performance Indicator Analysis 39 

7.10 AAP Policy Conclusions 41 

8 Progress with Local Plan Development Documents.................................................42 

8.1 Introduction 42 

8.2 Wyre Borough Local Plan 42 

8.3 Progress with Local Plans - Performance for the Period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 
2017 42 

8.4 Duty to Cooperate 44 

 

Appendix 1: Schedule of re-saved Local Plan Policies ...................................................47 

Appendix 2: Schedule of Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan Policies .....................48 

Appendix 3: Glossary of terms and abbreviations ..........................................................49 

 

Page 46



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

5 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Authorities Monitoring Report  
 
1.1.1 The preparation of Annual Monitoring Reports ceased on 15 January 2012 when 
section 113 of the Localism Act came into force. This removes the requirement for annual 
monitoring reports to be made to the Secretary of State. However, councils are still required 
to prepare reports, now known as 'Authorities' Monitoring Reports (AMR). The Act requires 
councils to publish this information direct to the public at least annually in the interests of 
transparency.  
 
1.1.2 As a legislative requirement under Regulation 34 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012, the AMR is the main mechanism for 
assessing the performance and effects of Wyre’s Development Plan and the timescales set 
out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS). Thus it acts to feed into Local Development 
Document (LDD) preparation, and as such forms critical evidence for emerging Local Plan 
for Wyre Borough. 
 
1.1.3 In the case of Wyre, it also generates the opportunity to bridge the transitional phase 
between the adopted Local Plan and the emerging Wyre Local Plan.  
 
1.1.4 This AMR focuses on monitoring the current saved policies within the Wyre Borough 
adopted Local Plan1. The AMR also monitors the implementation and effectiveness of 
policies contained within the adopted (17th September 2009) Fleetwood-Thornton Area 
Action Plan2 (AAP). 
 
1.1.5 This is the 13th AMR for Wyre Borough and the purpose is therefore as follows:  
 

 To monitor the key characteristics of Wyre as a wider contextual setting for Local 
Plan monitoring;  

 To assess the current saved planning policies of the Wyre Borough Adopted Local 
Plan and the policies contained within the adopted Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action 
Plan (AAP), including their effectiveness, and the impacts they have on the Borough; 
and  

 To review the progress in terms of preparation of the Local Plan against the Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) and subsequent updates on the Council’s website.  

 

1.2 Structure 

1.2.1 In order to address these issues, the AMR is structured in the following manner.  

1.2.2 Chapter 1 outlines the key messages of this AMR and Wyre’s Development Plan. 
 

1.2.3 Chapters 2 – 6 provide monitoring and analysis of the implementation and 
effectiveness of the current Saved Local Plan policies. In doing so, the AMR will monitor the 
policies of the Local Plan until they have been superseded by the emerging Strategy and 
Core Polices Local Plan. The analysis is based upon broad subject clusters.  
 
 

                                                
1 Wyre Borough Council (1999) Wyre Borough Local Plan (Wyre BC)  

 
2 Wyre Borough Council (2009) Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan DPD (Wyre BC) 

Page 47



Wyre Council 

6 

1.2.4 Chapter 7 reviews the implementation of the Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan 
(AAP), adopted 17 September 2009 and the performance and effectiveness of specific AAP 
policies. 
 
1.2.5 Chapter 8 reviews the progress made on preparing planning documents and outlines 
the Council’s actions under the Duty to Cooperate requirements with neighbouring 
authorities.  
 
1.2.6 It is anticipated that this document will provide a framework that will become the basis 
for future monitoring.  
 

1.3 Indicators  

1.3.1 On 30 March 2011, the Department for Communities and Local Government 
announced the withdrawal of several guidance documents on local plan monitoring. It is 
therefore a matter for each council to decide what to include in their monitoring reports. 

1.3.2 Contextual indicators provide a backdrop against which to consider the effects of 
policies and to inform the interpretation of output and significant effect indicators. By taking 
into account the socio-economic and environmental trends and characteristics of Wyre when 
evaluating policies they can be assessed in their current implementation. Future 
requirements can also be assessed.  

1.3.3 The contextual indicators thus build up a baseline picture for Wyre. Whilst spatial in 
nature, these indicators are broader in scope than traditional indicators of land use allocation 
and take-up, and therefore they both reflect the objectives of the new planning system, and 
specifically the objective of achieving sustainable development.  
 
1.3.4 Authorities are no longer required to monitor and record a range of core output 
indicators (Para. 1.3.1). However, as these indicators are considered a direct result of the 
implementation of planning policies, Wyre will continue to monitor core output indicators until 
the emerging Wyre Local Plan is adopted. These important indicators will help inform the 
validity of policies, and also the future direction of policies contained in emerging documents.  
 
1.3.5 Local output indicators have been developed to help monitor policies that are specific 
to Wyre and address characteristics that are not covered by core output indicators.  
 
1.3.6 As well as measuring the implementation of Local Plan policies, the impact of these 
policies is also monitored. By using significant effect indicators, the indirect effects of policy 
implementation can be ascertained.  
 

1.4 Census 2011 

1.4.1 The 2011 Census of England and Wales took place on 27 March 2011. The census 
provides a detailed snapshot of the population and housing characteristics that government 
needs to develop policies, and to plan and run public services such as health and education. 

1.5 Regional Spatial Strategies  

1.5.1 On 20 May 2013 the North West Regional Strategy was formally revoked by 
Government.  From that point onwards it no longer forms part of Wyre’s Development Plan.   

 

 

Page 48



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

7 

1.6 Wyre’s Development Plan  

1.6.1 The Development Plan for Wyre currently comprises the following documents:  

 Saved Policies of the Wyre Local Plan (1999) until such time as these are replaced 
by the new plans in preparation (see Appendix 9).  

 The Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan (adopted 2009).  

 The Lancashire Minerals and Waste Development Framework produced by 
Lancashire County Council.  

 

1.7 Limitations  

1.7.1 A number of gaps still exist in monitoring information and additional monitoring may 
take place in the future to address this.  

 
1.7.2 It should also be noted that for some applications which require legal agreements 
under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the official approval date is the date 
on which the permission is issued after the S106 agreement is signed and is not the date that 
the application was approved by the Planning Committee. This process can sometimes take 
several months before final permission can be granted. It is at that point when an application 
is considered as approved and included in the relevant AMR. 
 
1.7.3 Crucially, the AMR is designed to monitor policies which require in-built targets for 
monitoring purposes. As this AMR is monitoring old-style Local Plan policies, there exists a 
difficulty in that there are no measurable targets built into these policies.  

 

 
 

Page 49



Wyre Council 

8 

2 Geography and Society 

2.1 Spatial Characteristics of Wyre  
 
2.1.1 Wyre is a Lancashire coastal district bounded by the sea along parts of its western and 
northern boundaries. It shares a common land boundary with the City of Lancaster to the 
north, with the Boroughs of Ribble Valley, Preston and Fylde to the east and south 
respectively, and with Blackpool Unitary Authority along the remainder of its western 
boundary. 
 
2.1.2 Wyre itself is 
characterised by a distinct 
geographical polarity, with 
the urban concentration 
situated in the west of the 
Borough, and an expanse of 
rural area to the east. 
 
2.1.3 The urban area west of 
the River Wyre is on a 
peninsula situated in 
Morecambe Bay, and is 
comprised of the coastal 
towns of Fleetwood,  
Thornton, Cleveleys, and to 
the south, slightly inland, the 
market town of Poulton-le-
Fylde. 
 
2.1.4 The main rural area 
settlements of Wyre are the 
market town of Garstang, 
Catterall, Knott End-on-Sea, 
Preesall and Hambleton. The 
rural area is itself 
characterised by a large area 
of low-lying countryside and 
farmland, and east of the M6, 
the Bowland Fells which is 
designated an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). 
 

2.2  Demography 

2.2.1 The demographic structure of the Borough constitutes an important source of baseline 
information for the identification of issues facing Wyre Council in the preparation of planning 
policy, with particular importance for longer-term issues. 
 
2.2.2 In particular, these have been reflected through Core policies SP (The Development 
Strategy) of the Adopted Local Plan and will also play a role in shaping the emerging Local 
Plan. These core policies aim to make adequate provision of development in locations which 
respect the balance between urban and rural, as well as safeguarding the environmental 
quality of Wyre.  
 

FIGURE 2.1: WYRE COUNCIL 

Page 50



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

9 

2.2.3 This is done through the implementation of a settlement hierarchy, which has 
appropriate development goals at each level, in order to support the principles of sustainable 
development, but also to ensure that the development needs of the population of Wyre are 
met. 
 
2.2.4 In outlining the demographic profile of Wyre, this chapter highlights the specific 
demographic issues that affect planning policy, and also those that are predicted to affect the 
direction and shape of core policies in Wyre in the future. 
 

2.3 Population of Wyre 

The estimated population for Wyre (mid 2016) is 110,261 (ONS), this compares with the 
2011 Census figure of 107,749 representing a 2.3 per cent increase. Population estimates 
are calculated by using the previous year’s estimate and adjusting the estimate using the 
components of change in the given year which consist of the net difference of births/deaths 
and internal/international migration. 

2.4 Population Structure 

2.4.1 Wyre’s population age structure is somewhat different in comparison to Lancashire 
(including Blackburn with Darwen and Blackpool), the North West and England. As shown in 
figure 2.2 (the mid 2016 estimates), Wyre has a larger proportion of residents over the age of 
45 and lower proportions across all age groups under the age of 45. In comparison to the 
2011 Census, the age groups have changed slightly. All age groups over the age of 50 
(except 60-64) have increased and are higher than the regional and national average. Age 
groups 0-4, 10-24 and 35-49 have all decreased.  

 FIGURE 2.2: POPULATION STRUCTURE, 2011 CENSUS AND MID-2016 ESTIMATES (ONS) 

 
2.4.2 Table 2.1 shows 2014-based population projection figures for Wyre, compared to 
regional and national figures. Wyre has a higher percentage rate of growth compared to 
Lancashire but a lower rate of growth compared to the north west and national figures. As 
can be seen, the rate of growth is expected to peak in the short term (up to 2022) and then 
slowly reduce to 2032. Wyre’s population is projected to increase to 114,500 by the year 
2032 (6% greater than the 2011 Census). 
 

Page 51



Wyre Council 

10 

TABLE 2.1: LOCAL, REGIONAL AND NATIONAL POPULATION PROJECTIONS (ONS)3 

Population projection (thousands) with % change 

 
Wyre Lancashire North West England 

Year Population % Increase Population % Increase Population % Increase Population % Increase 

2016 109,2003 

 
1,192,200 

 
7,190,500 

 
55,218,700 

 
2018 109,900 0.64 1,199,600 0.62 7,247,800 0.80 56,061,500 1.53 

2020 110,600 0.64 1,206,400 0.57 7,303,100 0.76 56,862,300 1.43 

2022 111,400 0.72 1,213,100 0.56 7,356,400 0.73 57,633,800 1.36 

2024 112,200 0.72 1,220,000 0.57 7,409,100 0.72 58,396,300 1.32 

2026 112,800 0.53 1,226,500 0.53 7,459,400 0.68 59,135,200 1.27 

2028 113,400 0.53 1,232,400 0.48 7,506,500 0.63 59,844,400 1.20 

2030 114,000 0.53 1,237,600 0.42 7,550,600 0.59 60,524,200 1.14 

2032 114,500 0.44 1,242,100 0.36 7,591,600 0.54 61,175,200 1.08 

 

2.4.3 As shown in figure 2.3, Wyre’s population is also projected to age considerably by the 
year 2032, especially the 75+ age group which has a significant increase of approx. 7,000 
(55%) between 2011 (census) and 2032 (projection). The age group 65-74 is also expected 
to increase considerable by approx. 4,000 (29%). The projections also indicate that the age 
groups 0-4, 15-24 and age groups between 35 and 64 are all projected to decrease in 
population, especially the 45-54 age group which has a significant decrease of approx. 3,000 
(20%). 

FIGURE 2.3: PROJECTED POPULATION BY AGE GROUP FOR WYRE (ONS)3 

2.5 Population Density 

2.5.1 Table 2.2 illustrates that Wyre has a lower population density (mid 2016 estimates) 
compared to regional and national population densities. However, it must be noted that the 
population density in Wyre is unevenly distributed as illustrated in figure 2.4. The majority of 

                                                
3Subnational Population Projections (SNPP) provide estimates of the future resident population if recent demographic trends 

were to continue. They are produced every two years and are based on the local authority mid-year population estimates. The 
latest SNPP take the 2014 mid-year population estimates as their starting point. As projections are carried forward, they 
become less accurate, particularly for smaller geographical areas. Therefore, the mid-2016 estimate figure (page 9) is different 
as they are calculated differently (see paragraph 2.3.1 for details) and population estimates are released at different times. 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

0-4 5-14 15-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 (
th

o
u

sa
n

d
s)

Age Group

2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032

Page 52



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

11 

the population is concentrated in the urban areas of Fleetwood, Cleveleys, Thornton and 
Poulton-le-Fylde and also the market town of Garstang.  

TABLE 2.2: POPULATION DENSITY OF WYRE, MID-2016 ESTIMATE (ONS) 

  Wyre Lancashire North West England 

Population  110,261 1,198,798 7,219,623 55,268,067 

Area (sq. km.) 283 2,903 14,106 130,279 

Population per sq. km. 390 413 512 424 

 
 
 
  

 
2.6 Migration and Natural Change 

2.6.1 Figure 2.5 illustrates the rate of international and internal in-migrants and also the 
difference of natural change within Wyre since 2011 to 2016. In the year 2015 to 2016, there 
was a total net gain 1,016 in-migrants. Of that, 83 per cent had moved from elsewhere within 
the UK, and 17 per cent from overseas.  
 
2.6.2 Whilst overall there had been a net gain through in-migration, when considered in 
conjunction with fertility and mortality rates, the rate of in-migration has some implications. 
During 2015-2016, there were 955 births in Wyre compared to 1,463 deaths (ONS). 
 
 

 

 

 

 

FIGURE 2.4: POPULATION BY WARD IN WYRE, MID-2015 ESTIMATE (ONS) 

Page 53



Wyre Council 

12 

FIGURE 2.5: INTERNATIONAL AND INTERNAL MIGRATION AND NATURAL CHANGE IN WYRE, 2011-2016 (ONS) 

 

2.7 Socio-cultural issues 

2.7.1 Socio-cultural issues have a significant impact on spatial planning for sustainable 
communities. As well as providing a picture of the general state of the borough, socio-cultural 
indicators allow for the identification of issues that are important to Wyre, which then 
facilitates the development of policies to ensure sustainability of communities throughout the 
borough. 

2.8  Ethnic composition 

2.8.1 As Table 2.3 illustrates, Wyre has much less ethnic diversity than Lancashire, the North 
West and England. A much higher proportion of the population than in the North West or in 
England were white at the 2011 Census. Although the ethnic diversity in Wyre is estimated to 
have increased by 2011, the white British population in Wyre remains 12.8 per cent higher 
than England. All groups other than white had a lower proportion of the population than 
regionally or nationally. 

TABLE 2.3: ETHNIC COMPOSITION (PERCENTAGE), 2011 CENSUS COMPARED WITH THE 2001 CENSUS (LCC) 

 

Ethnic Group 
Wyre Lancashire North West England 

2001 2011 2001 2011 2001 2011 2001 2011 

White 98.8 98.2 94.6 92.3 94.3 90.2 90.8 85.4 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group 0.4 0.6 0.7 1.1 1.0 1.6 1.4 2.3 

Asian/Asian British 0.4 0.9 4.2 6.1 3.5 6.2 4.7 7.8 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.7 1.4 2.4 3.5 

Other ethnic group 0.3 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.6 0.6 1.0 1.0 

 

2.9 Deprivation  

2.9.1 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is a measure of the relative deprivation of 
areas at the Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) level. The concept is based on the idea of 
seven distinct domains of deprivation, which are experienced by individuals living in a 
particular area. The IMD is a weighted aggregation index of the relative deprivation of a 
particular area. 

Page 54



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

13 

FIGURE 2.6: INDICES OF MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION (ALL IMD DOMAINS) FOR WYRE, LOWER SUPER 
 OUTPUT AREAS BY RANKING POSITION IN ENGLAND, 2015 (DCLG) 

 

2.9.2 Spatially, there is an inequality between urban and rural parts of the borough, with the 
more deprived areas being found exclusively in the urban areas. Figure 2.6 shows that whilst 
much of Wyre ranks in the least deprived areas of England with some areas such as 
Garstang and parts of Poulton-le-Fylde, Thornton and Cleveleys ranking in the least deprived 
10 per cent, a number of areas in Fleetwood are ranked amongst the most deprived 10 per 
cent in England, notably Pharos and Mount wards. Jubilee ward in Cleveleys is also now 
ranked in the most deprived 10 per cent. On 17th September 2009, the Fleetwood-Thornton 
Area Action Plan (AAP) was adopted. The AAP area includes Mount ward and the AAP 
policies address the key issues facing the area including deprivation. 

2.10 Crime 

2.10.1 Table 2.4 contains data showing recorded crime rates for key offences in Wyre during 
the year 2016-2017 compared to the previous year.  

TABLE 2.4: RECORDED CRIME FOR KEY OFFENCES IN WYRE, 2016/2017 (ONS) 

Incident 
Recorded 
2015/16 

Recorded 
2016/17 

Per 1,000 population 
(mid-2016) 

% Change  

Violence against the person 1,352 1,645 14.9 22 

Sexual offences 140 180 1.6 29 

Robbery 18 29 0.3 61 

Theft Offences 1957 1,989 18.0 2 

Criminal damage and arson 889 881 8.0 -1 

Other crimes against society 287 369 3.3 29 

Vehicle offences 469 408 3.7 -13 

Total recorded crime - excluding fraud 5,112 5,501 49.9 8 

 
2.10.2 As can be seen, total recorded crime has increased from the previous year, with the 
most noticeable in percentage terms, being robbery.  

Page 55



Wyre Council 

14 

2.11 Health and Lifestyles 

2.11.1 At the age of 65, Wyre has some of the longest life expectancy averages in 
Lancashire for both men and women. Table 2.5 illustrates life expectancy averages for males 
and females against regional and national averages. The life expectancy at the age of 65 for 
males has slightly increased. 

TABLE 2.5 LIFE EXPECTANCY AT 65 YEARS, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY, 2012 – 2015 (PHE) 

 
Wyre Lancashire-12 North West England 

 
Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female 

2012-2014 83.3 85.9 83.1 85.4 82.9 85.2 83.6 86.1 

2013-2015 83.6 85.9 83.2 85.4 82.9 85.2 83.7 86.1 

 

2.11.2 There are dramatic differences in life expectancy across the borough and these 
generally correlate with areas of high deprivation. Life expectancy is 6.7 years lower for men 
and 8.9 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Wyre than in the least deprived 
areas (State of Wyre, 2016). 

2.11.3 The 2011 census identified that 11.7 per cent of the population in Wyre have their day 
to day activities restricted by some form of limiting long-term illness. This was the highest in 
the Lancashire and is higher than regional and national figures, as shown in table 2.6. 

TABLE 2.6: LIMITING LONG-TERM ILLNESS, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY (2011 CENSUS) 

Wyre Lancashire North West England and Wales 

11.7 9.8 10.3 8.5 

 

2.11.4 The 2011 census identified that 43.2 per cent of people in Wyre rated their health as 
'very good’ which is lower than regional and national figures, as shown in table 2.7. At the 
other end of the scale, 7.2 per cent of people reported their health as 'bad' or 'very bad', one 
of the worst rates in Lancashire. Where identified, Wyre residents reported that stress has 
one of the biggest negative impacts in terms of their health and wellbeing, followed by lack of 
physical activity and money. 

TABLE 2.7: SELF-REPORTED HEALTH, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY (2011 CENSUS) 

 
Very good Good Fair Bad Very bad 

Wyre 43.2 33.6 16 5.5 1.7 

Lancashire  45.9 33.7 14.1 4.9 1.4 

North West 46.5 32.8 13.9 5.3 1.5 

England and Wales 47.1 34.1 13.2 4.3 1.3 

 

2.12 Conclusion 

2.12.1 This chapter has outlined the key demographic issues for Wyre in terms of population 
and also the need to monitor socio-cultural issues as well as crime and health. 

2.12.2 Wyre’s population is projected to both increase and become considerably more aged 
over the coming years. This will have implications for the direction of planning policy, namely 
the provision of housing and the necessary services. With the population ageing there will be 
a greater demand for local health services and service provision, and with large parts of the 
Borough being rural there will be a greater need for transportation services. With the younger 

Page 56



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

15 

population projected to decrease, namely 15 to 34 year olds, this will bring new challenges 
that will have to be addressed especially in terms of retaining businesses and employment 
opportunities. 

2.12.3 As Wyre has a higher rate of the population reporting bad or very bad health than 
regionally and nationally, addressing health and well-being issues needs to be prioritised.  

2.12.4 In order to support the principles of sustainable development but also to ensure that 
the development needs of the population of Wyre are met, a new settlement hierarchy will be 
established as part of the new Local Plan. This may not be in the form of a traditional 
hierarchy where the highest populated areas are at the higher end of the spectrum as 
development opportunities may be limited through constraints such as infrastructure and 
flooding. Wyre Council has undertaken more detailed settlement analysis as part of the Local 
Plan evidence base.  

Page 57



Wyre Council 

16 

3 Promoting Sustainable Development 

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental, although they should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are equally 
important.  

3.1.2 National policy states that the planning system should play an active role in guiding 
development to sustainable solutions. Pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as 
in people’s quality of life. 

3.1.3 This chapter outlines the objectives to promote sustainable development through 
minimising the demand for natural resources in Wyre. Although the following chapters also 
play a role in supporting sustainable development, this chapter outlines measures to support 
sustainable modes of development. It also provides a direct measure through former core 
output indicator E3 to assess the quality and effectiveness of the policies applied in Wyre. 

3.2 Core Output Indicator E3: Renewable energy generation 

3.2.1 SQW supported by Maslen Environmental and CO2Sence, were commissioned by 
Lancashire County Council in February 2011 to undertake various studies to facilitate the 
development of sustainable energy generation across Lancashire. In March 2012 they 
produced a study entitled ‘Renewable Energy Target Setting and Policy Development’ and 
projected potential renewable energy capacity in the Borough up to 2030. The study 
identified renewable energy deployment in Wyre in 2011 at 21.6 megawatts as can be seen 
in Table 3.1. 
 

TABLE 3.1: RENEWABLE ENERGY INSTALLATIONS IN WYRE, BY TYPE 

Type Megawatts 

Commercial scale wind  6.0 MW 

Small scale wind 0.6 MW 

Plant biomass  6.0 MW 

Animal Biomass 3.0 

Energy from waste  5.9 MW 

Microgeneration (all solar)  0.1 MW 

Total 21.6 MW 

 
 
3.2.2 Table 3.2 illustrates there were 31 feed in tariff installations in Wyre during the year 1 
April 2016 to 31 March 2017, equating to approximately 7.374 megawatts. This is a 
significant increase compared to the previous year where there was a total installed capacity 
of 1.219 megawatts. This was owing to two large scale solar farms in the borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

17 

TABLE 3.2: FEED IN TARIFF INSTALLATIONS IN WYRE (OFGEM) 

Technology 
Photovoltaic Wind Total 

Installations 
Total Capacity 

(MW) Installations Capacity (MW) Installations Capacity (MW) 

Domestic 22 0.086 0 0 22 0.086 

Commercial 7 5.468 0 0 7 5.468 

Industrial 1 1.320 1 0.500 2 1.820 

Community 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 30 6.874 1 0.500 31 7.374 

 

3.3 Significant Effect Indicators: Environmental Issues (energy consumption) 

3.3.1 Table 3.3 illustrates Wyre’s final energy consumption figures for 2015 compared to 
2014, produced by Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). The 
figures show that overall, energy consumption in Wyre has increased, especially electricity 
consumption. 

TABLE 3.3: ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN WYRE, 2014 – 2015 (BEIS) 

  
Wyre North West Great Britain 

2014 2015 % change 2014 2015 % change 2014 2015 % change 

Electricity (GWh) 443 530 19.6 32,275 32,104 -0.5 295,325 292,155 -1.1 

Gas (GWh) 1,000 1,016 1.6 61,205 60,287 -1.5 495,656 489,388 -1.3 

Road Transport (KT) 71 72 1.4 4,018 4,072 1.3 35,843 36,384 1.5 

 

3.4 Local Output Indicator: New Cycle Routes 

3.4.1 As of March 2015, there was a total 19,189 metres (Lancashire County Council, 2015) 
of dedicated cycle routes within the borough. No figures are available for the new dedicated 
cycle routes within the borough between 2015 and 2017.  

3.5 Local Output Indicator: Code for Sustainable Homes 

3.5.1 The Code for Sustainable Homes (the Code) was a national standard for the 
sustainable design and construction of new homes. The Code aimed to reduce our carbon 
emissions and create homes that were more sustainable. Following a fundamental review of 
technical housing standards, the government has withdrawn the Code for Sustainable 
Homes. 

3.5.2 Between April 2008 and March 2014, 104 certificates were issued in Wyre from a 
possible 129 applications submitted through the design stage4.  
 
3.6 Indicator Analysis 

3.6.1 Table 3.4 illustrates how indicators are performing against saved policies, comparing 
data from the previous year and where targets have been set by the council. 
 
 
 
 

                                                
4 GOV.UK (2015) Code for sustainable homes [online] Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/code-for-

sustainable-homes-december-2014  (Accessed 31/07/2015) 

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/code-for-sustainable-homes-december-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/code-for-sustainable-homes-december-2014


Wyre Council 

18 

     
= Positive performance  = neither Negative or Positive   = Negative performance 

                     / Action required 
 

TABLE 3.4: PROMOTING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT INDICATOR PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

 S
a
v
e
d

 P
o

li
c
ie

s
 

  (
s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
 f

o
r 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
) 

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

r*
 

 D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 

 C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r/

  
  

  
  
 

 T
a

rg
e

t 

 2
0
1
6
/2

0
1
7
 

 O
u

tp
u

t 

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

N
o
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 l
in

k
e
d
 w

it
h
 

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t.
  

 A
ll 

p
o
lic

ie
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.
 

 

COI E3 Renewable energy generation 
2015/16 =  
1.219 MW 

7.374MW 

 

SEI 

Energy Consumption: 
(a) Electricity (Gigawatt per hour) 
(b) Gas (Gigawatt per hour) 
(c) Road Transport (killotonnes per hour) 

2014 = 
(a) 443 
(b) 1,000 
(c) 71 

2015 = 
(a) 530 
(b) 1,016 
(c) 71 

 

LOI New Cycle Routes 
No data 
available 

No data 
available 

N/A 

LOI Code for Sustainable Homes 

Grade 3 
(although  
entirely 
voluntary) 

The code has 
been withdrawn 

N/A 

*COI = Core Output Indicator, SEI = Significant Effects Indicator, LOI = Local Output Indicator 
 

3.7 Policy Conclusions 

3.7.1 The ‘Renewable Energy Target Setting and Policy Development’ study produced by 
SQW reveals that Wyre has a potential renewable energy capacity of 1227MW by 2030 
(1,155MW by 2020), which equates to 11% of the total capacity identified for Lancashire. The 
study further identifies Commercial scale wind is likely to provide a significant proportion of 
the renewable energy deployment across Wyre.  

3.7.2 There was a significant increase in the amount of Feed in Tariff installations compared 
to the previous year, which is a positive move towards sustainable development. 

3.7.3 In Wyre, gas and road transport energy consumption figures were similar to the 
previous year. However, there was a significant increase regarding electricity consumption. 
Whereas, electricity consumption regionally and nationally decreased.  

3.7.4 In line with national policies, further indicators will be developed to measure the 
performance of sustainable development through the emerging Local Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

19 

4 Housing 

4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1 The principle objectives of the housing planning policies in Wyre are to encourage the 
sustainable development of housing and to increase the provision of affordable housing. 
These objectives are aimed through the schedule of policies concerned with housing (SP 
and H of the adopted Local Plan).  

4.1.2 This chapter outlines the housing characteristics of Wyre. It also provides a direct 
measure via former core output indicators H1, H2, H3, H4 and H5 through the quality and 
performance of the planning policies applied in Wyre. 

4.1.3 Please note, the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) was revoked on 20 May 2013 which 
required 3,700 dwellings to be built in Wyre, at an average annual rate of 206 dwellings per 
year between 2003 and 2021. It’s now up to the Council to determine their objectively 
assessed housing need (OAN) as required by national policy. There are no up to date figures 
in the saved policies of the Wyre Borough 1999 Adopted Local Plan, therefore the 
requirement is now based on the latest full assessment of housing needs as set out in the 
Fylde Coast Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and accompanying addendums. 
At the Full Council meeting of 14th April 2016 it was accepted that the council consider an 
OAN figure of 479 dwellings per annum to be appropriate for the Local Plan and therefore 
the council will use this figure as the starting point for housing monitoring and calculating the 
five year supply at the present time. 

4.1.4 More information regarding the SHMA can be viewed using link: 
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1059/housing_evidence. 

4.1.5 Other evidence base documents relating to housing can be viewed on the council’s 
website using the following link: http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/housingevidence.  

4.2 Core Output Indicator H1 and H2: Housing Target and Net additional 
dwellings  

4.2.1 As shown in table 4.1, the total net additional dwellings built in Wyre between 1 April 
2011 and 31 March 2017 was 1,646 which equates to approximately 274 dwellings per 
annum.  In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, a total of 455 net additional dwellings 
were built.  

TABLE 4.1: HOUSING LAND CALCULATION 

Component 
Number of 
dwellings 

H1: Objectively assessed  housing need (OAN), 2011-2031, see paragraph 4.1.3 9,580 

H1: OAN annual target, 2011-2031, see paragraph 4.1.3 479 

H2: Actual completions between 1st April 2011 and  31st March 2017 1,646 

H2: Net additional completions in reporting year, 2015 – 2016 455* 

*There is a slight discrepancy between the figures reported in the Council’s Business Plan Performance 

Reports (453 net completions, sourced from the TEN monitoring system) and the AMR. This is because 
sometimes data returns from sources outside the Council are received after the tight deadlines set for 
TEN but within time to be included in the AMR. 

4.3 Local Output Indicator: Five year supply 

4.3.1 To boost significantly the supply of housing, national policy requires that local planning 
authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient 
to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional 

Page 61

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1059/housing_evidence
http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/housingevidence


Wyre Council 

20 

buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. Where there has been 
a record of persistent under delivery of housing, local planning authorities should increase 
the buffer to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to 
ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 

4.3.2 Wyre Council considers that a buffer of 5% can be justified. Furthermore, the under 
supply (backlog) from previous years also needs to be included.  More details are available 
in Wyre’s Housing Land Monitoring Report 2017 on the Council’s website (link below). 

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1165/ 

4.3.3 The five year housing land supply calculation is as set out in table 4.2. 

TABLE 4.2: WYRE COUNCIL FIVE YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY (2017-2021) 

Five year supply calculation 

A. 5 year requirement (479 X 5)  2,395 

B. 5 year requirement + 5% buffer 2,515 

C. 5 year requirement + 5% buffer + backlog of 1,228 (see paragraph 4.3.2) 3,804 

D. C ÷ 5 761 

E. Total commitments on large sites deliverable within 5 years  2,556 

F. Small sites allowance (100 per annum x 5 years) 500 

G. Total supply (E + F)  3,056 

F. Supply in years (G ÷D) 4.0 

 
4.3.4 The assessment of the housing land supply establishes that there are sufficient 
deliverable sites to allow for the provision of 4.0 years’ worth of housing based on the 
identified housing requirement for Wyre as at 31st March 2017. 
 

4.4 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 

4.4.1 SHLAAs aim to establish realistic assumptions about the availability, suitability and the 
likely economic viability of land to meet the identified need for housing over the plan period 
and as such are an important evidence source to inform plan-making. However, it should 
be emphasised that the SHLAA is no more than a technical study to inform the 
potential housing capacity in the borough. More importantly, it does not imply that 
these sites have been or should be allocated for development and each planning 
application is treated on its own merits, and in accordance to the current planning 
policy. 

4.4.2 In order to inform the preparation of the forthcoming Wyre Local Plan and assist in 
future housing delivery, an updated SHLAA was completed in 2017. As a result of the 
assessment process, 89 sites are considered to be both suitable and available for residential 
development equating to 7,735 dwellings (within the context of the specific SHLAA 
methodology and stated caveats in the document). More details are available in the Wyre 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment July 2017 on the council’s website (link 
below). 

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1151/  

Page 62

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1165/
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1151/


Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

21 

4.5 Core Output Indicator H3: New and converted dwellings - on previously 
developed land 

4.5.1 In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, 50 per cent of Wyre’s new housing was built 
on previously developed land. This represents a decrease of 24 per cent from the previous 
year.  

4.6 Core Output Indicator H4: Net additional pitches (Gypsies and Travellers) 

4.6.1 In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there were no permanent planning 
permissions for new pitches or new pitches constructed for Gypsies and Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople. There are currently no authorised pitches for Gypsies and Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople in Wyre.  

4.7 Core Output Indicator H5: Affordable housing completions and future 
delivery 

4.7.1 The Council’s housing policies specifies the provision of affordable housing on site 
and/or a financial contribution in lieu of provision, on development sites in the borough, 
based around the following criteria: 

 New housing developments which comprise 15 or more dwellings will provide 
affordable housing on site at a rate of 30%. 

 New housing developments between 10 and 14 dwellings will provide affordable 
housing on site at a rate of 20%. 

 New housing developments between 5 and 9 dwellings will provide either 20% on site 
affordable housing or will be required to make a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 
provision of a broadly equivalent value. 

4.7.2 The target for Wyre in 2016-2017 was an additional 70 affordable dwellings (Fylde 
Coast Housing Strategy 2009). The actual number of affordable dwellings built was 1045.  

4.8 Local Output Indicator: Self-Build and Custom Build Register 

4.8.1 The Government wants to enable more people to build their own home and Local 
Planning Authorities in England and Wales are required under the Self-build and Custom 
House Building Act 2015 (c.17) to keep a register of individuals and associations of 
individuals seeking to acquire land to build a home. 

4.8.2 In preparing this register, Wyre Council is making no commitment to find or 
provide registered individuals with self-build or custom build plots. The register will not 
be a public document and will be treated as confidential. However, the council will publish 
headline data (i.e. location, type and/or demand) from the register in the Authority Monitoring 
Report. 

4.8.3 As can be seen in table 4.3, at 31st March 2017 Wyre had two individuals registered. 

                                                
5There is a slight discrepancy between the figures reported in the Council’s Business Plan Performance Reports 

(103 affordable dwellings completed, sourced from the TEN monitoring system) and the AMR. This is because 
sometimes data returns from sources outside the Council are received after the tight deadlines set for TEN but 
within time to be included in the AMR. 

 

Page 63



Wyre Council 

22 

TABLE 4.3: BASIC INFORMATION, SELF-BUILD AND CUSTOM BUILD REGISTER (AT 31ST MARCH 2017) 

Registered 
individual/associations 

Type of build Preferred area Type of dwelling Bedrooms 

Individual (single plot)* Self-build one off home 
Garstang, 
Myescough or 
Barton 

Detached with 
large garden 

5 

Individual (single plot) 

Self-build one off home, 
Kit or package home, or 
Developer built one-off 
home 

Fleetwood, 
Thornton, 
Cleveleys or 
Poulton-le-Fylde 

Detached with 
small garden 

4 

*Please note, the applicant is not seeking the average size building plot but a smallholding to  
keep animals. 

 
4.9 Vacant dwellings 
4.9.1 Table 4.4 illustrates, as at October 2016, 228 homes in Wyre had been vacant for 
longer than 6 months representing 0.4 per cent of total dwelling stock, compared to 1.4 per 
cent in Lancashire, 1.2 per cent in the North West and 0.8 per cent in England.  
 

TABLE 4.4: VACANT DWELLINGS, LOCALLY, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY, OCTOBER 2016 (DCLG) 

  

Wyre Lancashire North West England 

No. 
Longer 
than 6 
months 

% No. 
Longer 
than 6 
months 

% No. 
Longer 
than 6 
months 

% No. 
Longer 
than 6 
months 

% 

Empty 
Homes 

1,275 228 0.4 20,727 7,692 1.4 103,397 38,969 1.2 589,766 200,145 0.8 

4.9.2 The 2011 Census indicates there were 176 second homes for people working in Wyre 
who are usually resident elsewhere in England and Wales, accounting for 0.36 per cent of 
Wyre’s housing stock.  
 

4.10 Indicator Analysis 

4.10.1 Table 4.5 illustrates how indicators are performing against saved policies, comparing 
data from the previous year and where targets have been set by the council. 
     

= Positive performance  = neither Negative or Positive   = Negative performance 
                    / Action required 
 
 

TABLE 4.5: HOUSING AND THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT INDICATOR PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

S
a
v
e
d

 P
o

li
c
ie

s
 

 (s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
  

fo
r 

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
) 

In
d

ic
a
to

r*
 

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r/

  
 

T
a

rg
e

t 

2
0
1
6
/2

0
1
7
 

O
u

tp
u

t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

 
SP2 
SP4 
SP13 
SP14 
 
H3 
H4 
H5 
H6 
H7 
H8 
H9 
H10 
H11 
H13 
H15 

COI H1 
Housing targets: 
(a)  2011 – 2031 
(b)  Per annum 

Target =  
(a) 9,580 
(b) 479 

N/A 

 

COI H2 
Net additional  dwellings: 
(a) cumulative completions (2011 – 2017) 
(b) for the reporting year 

Target = 
(a) 2,874 
(b) 479 

(a) 1,646 
(b) 455 

 

COI H3 
New and converted dwellings – on previously 
developed land (percentage) 

2015/16 =  
74% 

50% 
 

COI H4 Net additional pitches (Gypsies and Traveller) 
2015/16 = 
None 

None 
 

COI H5 Gross affordable housing completions 
2015/16 = 37 
Target = 70 

104 
 

LOI Five year supply 
Target = 3,804 
(5.0 years) 

3,056 (4.0 years) 
 

LOI Self-Build and Custom Build Register No target 2 
 

COI = Core Output Indicator, LOI = Local Output Indicator 

Page 64



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

23 

 

4.11  Policy Conclusions 

4.11.1 As is evident from the Housing Indicators, the Housing Policy objectives for Wyre are 
underperforming overall. 

4.11.2 Advice set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in March 2012, 
encourages sustainable growth and sets out the Government’s expectation that local 
planning authorities should ensure their Local Plan meets the full objectively assessed needs 
(OAN) for market and affordable housing in the housing market area as far as is consistent 
with the policies in that document. As it stands, Wyre currently has an under supply of 
deliverable housing against the OAN set out in the SHMA.  

4.11.3 The NPPF supports the provision of affordable housing where there is a proven need 
for it. The amount of affordable housing completions in Wyre in this monitoring year was 
above the council’s target. The adoption of the Rural Housing Needs Assessment in January 
2016 will also help deliver a number of pipeline schemes across the rural areas of the 
borough. This will help ensure that the council meets its affordable housing targets in future 
years. In addition a Wyre Affordable Housing Viability Study (and Addendum) has been 
completed which will assist in informing the Local Plan on the future viability of affordable 
housing provision in the borough. 

4.11.4 Wyre currently has no authorised site provision for Gypsies, Travellers, or Travelling 
Showpeople which is an issue that will be addressed through the emerging Local Plan.  

Page 65



Wyre Council 

24 

5 Economy 

5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 Economic growth and performance are indicators of development, employment and 
industry policies implemented by Wyre Council. Sustainable economic growth and diversity is 
encouraged through national policy in order to enhance the vitality of urban centres, and 
facilitate diversification. As the term sustainable development suggests, the need or desire 
for growth must not be met to the detriment of quality of life and the environment.   

5.1.2 The principal objectives of the economic planning policies in Wyre are to encourage 
employment and economic growth through safeguarding and providing employment land, as 
well as ensuring and enhancing the role and vitality of towns and key service centres. These 
objectives are intended to be achieved through the schedule of policies concerned with 
employment, shopping and town centres (EMP, S and TC of the Adopted Local Plan). 

5.1.3 This chapter outlines the economic characteristics of Wyre. It also provides a direct 
measure via former core output indicators BD1, BD2, BD3 and BD4 through the quality and 
effectiveness of the policies applied in Wyre.   

5.1.4 Other evidence base documents relating to the economy can be viewed on the 
council’s website using the following link: http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/economyevidence.  

5.2 Economic Activity 

5.2.1 Table 5.1 shows the economic activity rates, the employment rates and unemployment 
rates in Wyre in comparison to regional and national figures. Wyre’s economic activity rate 
and employment rate have significantly increased from the previous year and are now higher 
than the regional and national level. Wyre’s unemployment rate has increased from the 
previous year and is now higher than the regional and national level.  

TABLE 5.1: ECONOMIC ACTIVITY AND UNEMPLOYMENT RATES (PERCENTAGE), 2015 – 2017 (NOMIS) 

  Wyre North West Great Britain 

  2015/16 2016/17 +/- 2015/16 2016/17 +/- 2015/16 2016/17 +/- 

Economic Activity Rate* 69.0 78.4 9.4 75.5 75.7 0.2 77.8 78.0 0.2 

Employment Rate** 65.5 73.2 7.7 71.4 71.8 0.4 73.7 74.2 0.5 

Unemployment Rate*** 4.6 6.8 2.2 5.3 5.1 -0.2 5.1 4.7 -0.4 

*Economic Activity Rate – Proportion of the population (aged 16-64) who are active or potential active (people working 
or available for work or training) members or the labour market.  

**Employment Rate – Proportion of the working population (aged 16-64) that is employed. 

***Unemployment Rate – Unemployed as a percentage of the economically active population. 

 

5.3 Employment by Occupation 

5.3.1 Table 5.2 illustrates that Wyre has higher proportions of people than both regionally 
and nationally employed in several occupation groups; associate professional and technical 
occupations, administrative and secretarial occupations, skilled trade occupations and 
caring, leisure and other service occupations. Professional occupations have significantly 
decreased from the previous year. 

 

 

Page 66

http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/economyevidence


Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

25 

TABLE 5.2: EMPLOYMENT BY OCCUPATION (PERCENTAGE), 2015/16- 2016/17 (NOMIS) 

Occupation Group 
Wyre North West Great Britain 

2015/16 2016/17 +/- 2015/16 2016/17 +/- 2015/16 2016/17 +/- 

Managers and senior officials 8.2 8.4 0.2 9.9 9.9 0 10.4 10.7 0.3 

Professional occupations 19.0 15.2 -4.8 19.2 18.6 -0.6 19.9 20.4 0.5 

Associate professional & technical occupations 15.3 19.2 3.9 12.9 13.4 0.5 14.1 14.2 0.1 

Administrative and secretarial occupations 16.8 14.2 -2.6 11.3 10.9 -0.4 10.7 10.2 -0.5 

Skilled trades occupations 9.0 14.9 5.9 10.3 10.3 0 10.5 10.4 -0.1 

Caring, leisure and other service occupations 11.6 10.6 -1.0 9.5 9.7 0.2 9.2 9.1 -0.1 

Sales and customer service occupations 7.3 6.8 -0.5 8.3 8.6 0.3 7.6 7.5 -0.1 

Process, plant and machine operatives 2.9 5.4 2.5 7.0 7.0 0 6.4 6.3 -0.1 

Elementary occupations 9.9 5.3 -4.6 11.1 11.3 0.2 10.7 10.7 0 

 

5.4 Core Output Indicator BD1 and BD2: Total amount of additional 
employment floorspace and amount of floorspace on previously developed 
land – by Type 

5.4.1 Table 5.3 illustrates the amount and type of additional employment floorspace in Wyre 
for the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 was 14,528 square metres. This was a significant 
increase compared to 6,274 square metres in the previous year. Of this, 89 per cent was on 
previously developed land, a decrease of 11 per cent from the previous year. 

  
TABLE 5.3: AMOUNT OF ADDITIONAL EMPLOYMENT FLOORSPACE (SQUARE METRES) 

AND PERCENTAGE ON PREVIOUSLY DEVELOPED LAND, BY TYPE 

 

  
Indicator  

Use Class Order 

B1 (a) B1 (b) B1 ( c) B2 B8 Total 

BD1 Total amount of employment floorspace completed, by 
type (m2) 

1,173 0 0 1,250 12,105 14,528 

BD2 Total amount of employment floorspace completed on 
previously developed land (PDL), by type (m2) 

1,173 0 0 0 11,825 12,998 

Percentage (%) PDL 100 0 0 0 98 89 

 

5.5 Core Output Indicator BD3:  Employment Land Supply  

5.5.1 Wyre’s employment land supply allocated for employment purposes (Use Class B) is 
80.66 hectares.  

TABLE 5.4: EMPLOYMENT LAND AVAILABLE, HECTARES 

 
Remaining Allocated Employment 

Land (Hectares) 

BD3 Employment land available 80.66 

      

5.5.2 As at 31 March 2017, there were 43 commitments totalling 15.87 hectares (gross) and 
an additional 49,658 sqaure metres (net) floorspace. These are planning permissions 
granted but the development has not been implemented or complete. However, there are 
also 12 commitments which include a loss of employment land, totalling 9.93 hectares 
(gross) and 28,082 square metres (net) floorspace. 

Page 67



Wyre Council 

26 

5.6 Core Output Indicator BD4: Total amount of floorspace for ‘town centre 
uses’ 

5.6.1 Indicator BD4 monitored the take up of retail, office and leisure within the local authority 
and town centres. Retail and town centre monitoring is currently being reviewed as part of 
the emerging Local Plan. Therefore, there is no information in this report but future AMR’s 
will monitor retail take up. 

5.7 Indicator Analysis 

5.7.1 Table 5.5 illustrates how indicators are performing against saved policies, comparing 
data from the previous year and where targets have been set by the council. 
     
 = Positive performance  = neither Negative or Positive   = Negative performance 
          / Action required 
 

TABLE 5.5: BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND TOWN CENTRE INDICATOR PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

S
a
v
e
d

 P
o

li
c
ie

s
 

 (s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
  

fo
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
) 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r/

  
  
  
  

T
a

rg
e

t 

2
0
1
6
/2

0
1
7
 

O
u

tp
u

t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

EMP2 
EMP3 
EMP4 
EMP6 
EMP7 
EMP8 
EMP9 
EMP12 
EMP13 
S6 
S7 
TC1 
TC2 
TC7 
TC11 
TC13 
TC15 
TC19 

COI 
BD1 

Total amount of additional employment floorspace 

 
2015/16  
= 6,274 m2 

 

14,528 m2 

 

COI 
BD2 

Total amount of additional floorspace on previously 
developed land 

2015/16  
= 100% 

89% 

 

COI 
BD3 

Employment land available, hectares (ha) n/a 80.66 ha 

 

      *COI = Core Output Indicator
 

5.8 Policy Conclusions 

5.8.1 It is evident from the Business Development Indicators, the Economic Policy (EMP, S 
and TC of the Adopted Local Plan) objectives for Wyre are performing successfully overall.  

5.8.2 The amount and type of additional employment floorspace in Wyre significantly 
increased compared to the previous year. This is because of the completion of a site for 
open storage of caravans. 

5.8.3 During 2012, consultants were employed to undertake an Employment Land and 
Commercial Leisure Study. The study assessed all current employment allocations. An 
update to the 2012 study was undertaken in September 2015 to reflect the latest demand 
forecasting elements of the 2012 study and an update addendum was produced in 
December 2015 to undertake sensitivity testing of the demand forecast. The study 
recommends that several sites currently allocated for employment use are now deemed 
unsuitable and will be considered for deallocation through the new Local Plan. The sites 
identified for allocation in the new Local Plan will help encourage investment in the borough.  

5.8.4 Of the land developed in the past year for employment purposes, 89 per cent was 
developed on previously developed land.  

Page 68



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

27 

6 Environment 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 The environmental qualities of Wyre are important, because they impact on the shape 
of policies applied to the borough. However, they are also an indicator of the environmental 
sustainability and suitability of policies, and can be considered indicative of the direct and 
indirect impact those policies have on the environment. 
 
6.1.2 Under national and local policy, development must address likely climate change, and 
make adaptations in order to effectively respond to the ensuing environmental, social and 
economic impacts. These objectives are intended to be achieved through the schedule of 
policies concerned with the environment (SP, ENV, TC, TREC and H of the Adopted Local 
Plan). 
 
6.1.3 This chapter outlines the environmental characteristics of Wyre to illustrate the need for 
environmental protection and also the need to provide adequate controls to ensure the 
safeguarding of the environment. It also provides a direct measure via former core output 
indicators E1 and E2 through the quality and effectiveness of the policies applied in Wyre. 
 
6.1.4 Other evidence base documents relating to the environment can be viewed on the 
council’s website using the following link: http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/environmentevidence.  

6.2 Environmental Assets 

6.2.1 In Lancashire there are at present over 1,100 Biological Heritage Sites (BHSs) covering 
25,000 hectares, which represents 8 per cent of the County’s area. Of which, there are 67 
BHSs wholly or partially within Wyre Borough covering 3,259 hectares, as shown in figure 
6.1.  BHSs contain valuable habitats such as woodland, species-rich grassland, swamp and 
salt marsh. There are also ‘artificial’ habitats including, railway embankments and the length 
of the Lancaster canal which runs through Wyre. 

FIGURE 6.1: BIOLOGICAL HERITAGE SITES IN WYRE (LCC) 

 

Page 69

http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/environmentevidence


Wyre Council 

28 

6.2.2 There are four Local Geodiversity Sites (LGSs) covering 616 hectares, which are 
wholly of partially in Wyre. Three of these are rivers or river sections, whilst the fourth is a 
railway cutting.  

6.2.3 Wyre has approximately 6,297 hectares of land designated as a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI). This is distributed amongst five SSSI sites, which are wholly or 
partially within Wyre, as shown in figure 6.2.  

6.2.4 Natural England assesses SSSI’s to measure the quality of their habitats and species 
and to assess if the appropriate management is being carried out. If an SSSI is found to be in 
a favourable or recovering condition, it means that its habitats and species are being 
conserved by appropriate management. If an SSSI is found to be in an unfavourable 
condition, this means there is a current lack of appropriate management, or that there are 
damaging impacts (which may be outside of the control of the owner) which need to be 
addressed. The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has a target 
to get 95% of SSSIs into favourable or recovering condition. Wyre’s SSSI’s have been 
assessed as being 100% in favourable or recovering condition. 

FIGURE 6.2: SITES OF SPECIAL SCIENTIFIC INTEREST IN WYRE (NE) 

 

6.2.5 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) 
are valuable landscapes, and it is in the interest of 
the nation to protect and safeguard them. The 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 legislates 
for AONBs, ensuring their protection. 

6.2.6 Wyre contains approximately 5,079 hectares of 
the Forest of Bowland AONB, representing 17.95 per 
cent of Wyre’s land cover, including the Bleasdale 
Moors, located in the East of the Borough, as shown 
in figure 6.3.  
 

FIGURE 6.3: FOREST OF BOWLAND AONB (NE) 

Page 70



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

29 

6.2.7 Morecambe Bay is of particular importance to Wyre. As well as being designated as an 
SSSI, it is also classified a Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC), and in addition is a Ramsar site. As a result of the European Habitats Directive, 
Morecambe Bay is currently one of 45 European marine sites in England. European marine 
sites are defined to mean any SPAs and SACs that are covered by tidal water and protect 
some of our most special marine and coastal habitats and species of European importance. 

6.3 Core Output Indicator E2: Change in areas of biodiversity importance 

6.3.1 Table 6.1 represents the percentage cover of areas of biodiversity importance in Wyre 
indicating any change by comparing previous years. Please note; some 
designations/classifications overlap.  

TABLE 6.1: COVER (PERCENTAGE) OF AREAS OF BIODIVERSITY IMPORTANCE IN WYRE (LCC AND NE) 

Biodiversity importance 

Local Sites Number 2015/16 Hectares 2016/17 Hectares % Cover* +/- Hectares 

SSSIs 5 6,297 6,297 19.14 0 

LGSs 4 616 616 1.9 0 

BHSs 67 3,259 3,259 9.9 0 

*Covering the whole borough (land and sea) 

 

6.4 Local Output Indicator: Green Belt     
           

6.4.1 At 31st March 2017, Wyre had around 750 
hectares of Green Belt, located between 
Fleetwood, Thornton and Cleveleys, and also 
around Poulton-le-Fylde, as shown in figure 6.4. 
This represents no change from 31st March 2016. 
Table 6.2 illustrates the total change of 
designated areas (hectares) of Green Belt 
between 2016 and 2017 in Wyre, Lancashire the 
North West and England. 

TABLE 6.2: AREA OF DESIGNATED GREEN BELT 
LAND, 2016-2017 (DCLG) 

 

 
 

At 31st 
March 
2016 

At 31st 
March 
2017 

Change 
% of total at 
31st March 

2017 

Wyre 750 750 0 2.65 

Lancashire 79,070 79,070 0 27.24 

North 
West 

261,340 261,340 0 18.53 

England 1,635,490 1,634,700 -790 12.55 

 

 
 

 
 

 

FIGURE 6.4: GREEN BELT IN WYRE 

Page 71



Wyre Council 

30 

6.5 Core Output Indicator E1: Number of planning permissions granted 
contrary to Environment Agency advice on flooding and water quality 
grounds 
 

6.5.1 With much of Wyre relatively low-lying, coastal and riparian land, the risk of coastal and 
river flooding is considerable, with much of the coastal area to the north of the borough and 
land around the River Wyre classified as Flood Zone 3 by the Environment Agency (EA) as 
shown in figure 6.5.  

FIGURE 6.5: EA DESIGNATED FLOOD ZONE 3 IN WYRE (EA) 

 

 
6.5.2 Saved Policies ENV2 and ENV13 aim to limit development in coastal zones and areas 
susceptible to flooding in order to prevent greater risk of flooding and damage to homes and 
property.  
 
6.5.3  In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there were initially 35 planning applications 
objected to by the EA. 30 were objected to as the developments would be at risk of flooding 
or would increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and five were objected to on the grounds 
that the development would adversely affect water quality. However, of these, 17 had the 
original objections withdrawn based on revised submissions and/or conditions imposed. 
Seven were withdrawn by the applicant. Three were refused (one based on objections from 
EA). Seven are pending decision/consideration (five have had their original objections 
withdrawn, two objections are still valid). One planning application was objected to by the EA 
(16/01036/REM) but was permitted. However, at this stage the EA objected on the grounds 
that the applicant had not provided any justification for not connecting to the main drains and 
was not considering the potential flood risk. Outline consent had already been granted and at 
the time of assessment the EA raised no objections. The applicant will have to provide full 
details of drainage for both foul and surface water at discharge of conditions stage and this 
will be assessed in conjunction with the EA. 

 

Page 72



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

31 

6.6 Significant Effect Indicators: Environmental Issues (air quality)  

6.6.1 As table 6.3 illustrates the largest estimated source of carbon emissions in Wyre in 
2015 was the transport sector and the figure has increased by 2 per cent from the previous 
year. Per Capita, carbon emissions are similar to the rest of Lancashire but have increased 
compared to the previous year.  

TABLE 6.3: CARBON EMISSIONS ESTIMATES AT LOCAL, REGIONAL AND NATIONAL LEVEL,  
2014 – 2015 (BEIS) 

 

  Year 

Industry 
and 

Commercial 
Total (kt) 

Domestic 
Total (kt) 

Transport 
Total (kt) 

Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry (kt) 

Total (kt)* 
Per 

Capita (t) 

Wyre 

2014 226 201 241 27 694 6.4 

2015 242 198 246 27 712 6.5 

Change (%) 7.1 -1.5 2.1 0 2.6 1.6 

Lancashire 

2104 3,093 2,146 2,569 85 7,893 6.7 

2015 2,932 2,116 2,641 84 7,773 6.5 

Change (%) -5.2 -1.4 2.8 -1.2 -1.5 -3.0 

North West 

2104 17,428 12,286 13,399 -709 42,404 5.9 

2015 15,587 12,173 13,676 -717 40,719 5.7 

Change (%) -10.6 -0.9 2.1 1.1 -4.0 -3.4 

England 

2104 131,764 91,282 102,505 -5,239 320,312 5.9 

2015 120,673 87,993 104,818 -5,305 308,179 5.6 

Change (%) -8.4 -3.6 2.3 1.3 -3.8 -5.1 

*Figures have been rounded 

6.7 Local Output Indicator: Open Space 

6.7.1 The council commissioned a consortium of consultants in 2013 to undertake the Wyre 
Green Infrastructure Study. As part of the Study, an Open Space Audit and Needs 
Assessment Evidence Base Report was produced which reviewed all the open space 
categories within Wyre’s Open Space Audit 2010 and should be read in conjunction with the 
2010 Audit. 

6.7.2 As part of the new Local Plan, the council is currently reviewing standards for green 
infrastructure which will include open space. On adoption of the new Local Plan, future 
AMR’s will monitor green infrastructure and open space provision. 

6.7.3 With regard to open spaces eligible for the Green Flag Award, a national standard 
which rewards well managed parks and green spaces in the United Kingdom, four of Wyre’s 
parks were awarded green flag status in 2017. These were Vicarage Park (Poulton), 
Hawthorne Park (Thornton), Wyre Estuary Country Park (Stanah) and Memorial Park 
(Fleetwood). Memorial Park (Fleetwood) was also accredited as a Green Heritage Site.  

6.8 Indicator Analysis 

6.8.1 Table 6.4 illustrates how indicators are performing against saved policies, comparing 
data from the previous year and where targets have been set by the council. 

 

 

 

Page 73



Wyre Council 

32 

     
 = Positive performance  = neither Negative or Positive   = Negative performance 
          / Action required 
 

TABLE 6.4: ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY INDICATOR PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

S
a
v
e
d

 P
o

li
c
ie

s
 

 (s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
 f

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
) 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r/

  
T

a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
6
/2

0
1
7
 

O
u

tp
u

t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

SP2 
SP4 
SP12 
SP13 
SP14 
 
ENV2 
ENV7 
ENV9 
ENV10 
ENV11 
ENV13 
ENV14 
ENV15 
ENV16 
ENV17 
ENV18 
 
TC19 
 
TREC8 
TREC10 
TREC12 
TREC13 
TREC14 
TREC16 
 
H13 

COI 
E1 

Number of planning permission granted contrary to 
the advice of the Environment Agency, on: 
(I) Flood defence grounds, 
(ii) Water quality 

 
Target = 0 

(i) 0 
(ii) 0 

 

COI 
E2 

Change in areas of biodiversity importance 
Target =  
No Lose 

No Loss 

 

SEI 
Air Quality: 
CO2 Emissions 

2014 = 
694 kt 

2015 = 
712 kt 

 

LOI Green Belt 
2014/15 =  
750 hectares 

750 
hectares 

 

LOI 
Open Space: 
Number of Green Flag Award sites 

2015/16=  
5 sites 

4 sites 

 

*COI = Core Output Indicator, SEI = Significant Effects Indicator, LOI = Local Output Indicator 

6.9 Policy Conclusions 

6.9.1 As is evident from the Environmental Indicators, the environment policy (SP, ENV, TC, 
TREC and H of the Adopted Local Plan) objectives for Wyre are overall performing 
successfully.  

6.9.2 The borough has a rich resource of environmental assets which provide significant 
economic, social and environmental benefits. It is important that growth proposed in the 
emerging Local Plan does not adversely impact on the quality of the existing assets. Overall, 
there has been no loss or developments within nationally designated sites of importance 
which the new Local Plan will need to reflect.  

6.9.3 There has been no development granted contrary to the advice from the Environment 
Agency on flood defence grounds and water quality, satisfying the policy objectives ENV13 
and ENV14 of the Adopted Local Plan. 

 

 

 

Page 74



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

33 

7 Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan 

7.1 Introduction 

7.1.1 The Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan (AAP) was adopted by Full Council on 17 
September 2009. The Fleetwood-Thornton AAP looks ahead to the year 2021, setting out a 
comprehensive vision and spatial planning framework for the Fleetwood-Thornton area, 
within Wyre. The boundaries of the land (the ‘Area’) to which the AAP relates are shown in 
Figure 7.1. 

7.1.2 The principal objectives of the 
AAP policies address the key issues 
facing the area, and in particular, 
focus on delivering significant growth 
and development to secure the 
sustainable regeneration of this 
strategically important site. These 
objectives are targeted through a 
series of Plan Objectives which are 
monitored through the schedule of 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

7.1.3 This chapter outlines the key 
characteristics of the AAP. It also 
provides a direct measure of the 
implementation and effectiveness of 
the policies applied in the AAP 
through the KPIs. 

7.2 Plan Objective 1: Protect 
and Enhance the Natural and 
Built Environment. 

7.2.1 Plan Objective 1 seeks to (and 
is monitored via KPI1, KPI2, KPI3 
and KPI3a): 

7.2.2 Create an attractive and high 
quality urban and natural 
environment, ensuring that good 
design is a fundamental aspect of all 
new development and redevelopment makes a positive contribution to the local environment, 
whilst maintaining, restoring and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
interests. 

7.2.3 Protect and enhance biodiversity and landscape character for its own right and to 
mitigate the effects of new development on the various nature conservation interests 
associated with the Area and its surrounding environment. 

7.2.4 Give careful consideration to flood risk, the effects of flooding and the design of flood 
mitigation measures. 

 

 

FIGURE 7.1: FLEETWOOD-THORNTON AAP BOUNDARY 

Page 75



Wyre Council 

34 

7.2.5 KPI1: Number of designated sites of nature conservation importance 

7.2.6 Within the Fleetwood-Thornton AAP, there are currently six Biological Heritage Sites 
with a total area of 44.8 hectares (8.64 per cent of the total AAP area). Adjacent to the east 
side of the Fleetwood-Thornton AAP boundary, down the Wyre Estuary, the site is 
designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). It is also classified as a Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and a Ramsar site. There has been no loss of sites within the year 
commencing 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. 

7.2.7 KPI2: No inappropriate development in flood zone 

7.2.8 In the year commencing 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there were no planning 
permissions granted contrary to Environment Agency advice where the development would 
be at risk of flooding or increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. 

7.2.9 KPI3: All development proposed through Policies 2 to 8 of AAP with design 
elements, which encourage and enhance biodiversity 

7.2.10 Between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, there were 16 minor planning permissions 
granted. One contained conditions to provide a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) which outlines how a construction project will avoid, minimise or mitigate 
effects on the environment and surrounding area.  

7.2.11 KPI3a: The number and proportion of total new build completions on housing 
sites reaching very good, good, average and poor ratings against the Building for Life 
criteria 

7.2.12 This indicator is based on the criteria set out in the old Building for Life (BfL) which 
has now been replaced by Building for Life 12 (BfL12) in 2012. 

7.2.13 BfL12 is not designed to be used for “scoring” and instead uses a traffic light system 
with green, amber and red lights against 12 questions designed to help structure discussions 
between local authorities, developers and stakeholders. 

7.2.14 Given the introduction of BfL12 and the changes to the scoring system, Wyre Council 
no longer intends to publish annual monitoring data on the performance of new housing 
developments (+10 dwellings) against the old BfL criteria.  

7.3 Plan Objective 2: Encourage Housing Choice 

7.3.1 Plan Objective 2 seeks to (and is monitored via KPI4, KPI5 and KPI6): 

7.3.2 Meet identified housing needs and to encourage housing development of a suitable 
scale and mix of tenure with a priority towards housing development on appropriate 
brownfield sites. A total provision of up to 1,300 dwellings has been allocated within the Area. 

7.3.3 KPI4: Amount of dwellings completed each year 

7.3.4 Table 7.1 illustrates that 62 dwellings were completed within the year 1 April 2016 to 31 
March 2017. 

7.3.5 The AAP has land allocated for the provision of 1,300 dwellings up to the year 2021 
across four sites. However, capacity is likely to be reduced by permissions granted for 
developments at lower densities than expected. It is therefore unlikely the requirement will be 
met. There are currently no planning permissions on the FD2 site. 

Page 76



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

35 

TABLE 7.1: HOUSING COMPLETIONS WITHIN THE AAP 

AAP Housing site 
No. of 

Dwellings 
Allocated 

Total 
site 

capacity 
as at 

31/03/17* 

Completions 

Total Up to 
31/03/14 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

FD1 - Fleetwood Docks 380 336 127 72 74 32 305 

PS1 - Former Power Station 558 474 127 52 16 30 225 

FD2 - Fleetwood Docks Mixed Use Site 120 120 0 0 0 0 0 

PS2 - Land to the west of former Power Station 242 133 2 0 0 0 2 

Total 1,300 1,062 256 124 90 62 532 

*As at April 2015, capacity likely to be reduced by permissions granted for developments at lower densities than expected. 
 
 

7.3.6 KPI5 and KPI6: Number of affordable houses receiving planning permission and 
number of completions 

7.3.7 The Council’s Housing Policy states that new housing developments which comprise 
15 or more dwellings (or which are on sites of more than 0.5 hectares) should make on-site 
provision of affordable housing at a rate of at least 40% of the total number of dwellings. 

7.3.8 However, within the AAP, in exceptional circumstances this requirement may be 
reduced where there are major constraints on the development site which incur additional 
development costs i.e. remediation of contaminated land. 

7.3.9 Table 7.2 indicates the percentage of affordable housing against planning permissions 
and completions. Please note, some of these planning permissions were granted before the 
AAP was adopted in September 2009. 

TABLE 7.2: PERCENTAGE OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

 

  
  

AAP Affordable Housing Calculation 

Total dwellings 
No. of affordable 

homes* 
Percentage (%) 

Completions, by end 31 March 2014 256 98 38 

Completions, 2014 – 2015 160 0 0 

Completions, 2015 – 2016 90 0 0 

Completions, 2016 – 2017 62 0 0 

Total Completions 532 98 18 

Dwellings under construction or with permission 280 0* 0 

Total 812 98 12 

*Possible additional affordable housing units on future permissions on allocated sites still to be taken up. 
 

7.4 Plan Objective 3: Encourage Employment Opportunities 

7.4.1 Plan Objective 3 seeks to (and is monitored via KPI7): 

7.4.2 Develop the local economy by encouraging distinctive enterprise and attracting a range 
of high profile businesses and investment together with the consolidation and further growth 
of the Fleetwood fishing and port related industries and the specialist industrial sector at the 
Hillhouse site. Further employment opportunities will be encouraged through mixed-use 
schemes particularly at the Fleetwood Docks Mixed Use Development Area. 

7.4.3 Encourage the creation of an attractive gateway into the area (comprising a landmark 
development) within the Fleetwood Docks Mixed Use Development Area which will 

Page 77



Wyre Council 

36 

contribute to the achievement of a high quality environment for all and a prestige location for 
business investment. 

7.4.4 KPI7: Amount of land developed for employment, by type 

7.4.5 Table 7.3 illustrates how much additional employment floorspace has been developed, 
by type for specific allocations in the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. 

TABLE 7.3: AMOUNT OF LAND DEVELOPED FOR EMPLOYMENT (BY TYPE), 2016-2017 

 

  Use Class Order (Allocation) 

B1 (FD2/E1) A3/A4 (FD2/E1) D2 (FD2/E1) (E2) (E3) 

Gross (2015-2016) 0 0 0 0 0 m2 

Total (from start of plan period) 0 0 0 0 9,485 m3 

Target 22,300m2 2,000m2 6,000m2 10.97 ha 100,000m2 

 

 

7.5 Plan Objective 4: Improve Accessibility and Movement throughout the Plan 
Area 

7.5.1 Plan Objective 4 seeks to (and is monitored via KPI8, KPI9, KPI10, KPI11 and KPI 12): 

7.5.2 Give high priority to improving accessibility through existing transport infrastructure 
within the locality and linkages to the surrounding area including Fleetwood Town Centre. 

7.5.3 Give high priority to public transport infrastructure generally in the development of the 
Area and seek improved services that link the Area with nearby towns including Fleetwood 
Town Centre. 

7.5.4 Support the development of rail services to Fleetwood via Thornton and Poulton in 
order to link the Area to the wider sub-region. 

7.5.5 Improve opportunities for access and movement throughout the Area for all sectors of 
the community. 

7.5.6 KPI8: Number of new developments within 30 minutes travel by public transport 
of six major services 

7.5.7 Lancashire County Council (LCC) monitored this indicator for Wyre Council using 
particular software. However, the software is no longer available and therefore KPI8 cannot 
be monitored during this monitoring year. However LCC are intending to replace the software 
and monitoring will hopefully be undertaken in future AMR’s. 

7.5.8 KPI9: Number and frequency of bus services within Plan area 

7.5.9 At present there are six regular bus services as shown in table 7.4 with stops within or 
adjacent to the Fleetwood-Thornton AAP boundary. There are also several school bus routes 
to schools at; Preesall, Great Eccleton, Elswick, Cleveleys, Poulton-le-Fylde and Fleetwood. 

 

 

 

Page 78



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

37 

TABLE 7.4: NUMBER AND FREQUENCY OF REGULAR BUS SERVICES WITHIN PLAN AREA 

 

Bus service Monday - Friday Saturday Sundays and Bank Holidays 

1 every 20-30mins every 20-30mins every 20-30mins 

14 every 20-30mins every 10-30mins every 20mins 

74 every 1hr every 1hr every 1 hr 

75 every 1hr every 1hr every 2hr 

84 every 30mins every 30mins every 1hr 

87 every 1hr 30mins every 1hr 30mins No service 

 
7.5.10 KPI10: Length of new dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes within Plan area 

7.5.11 No figures are available for the new dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes within the 
Fleetwood-Thornton AAP during 2016-2017.  

7.5.12 KPI11: Improvements to the Strategic and Local Road Network 

7.5.13 There were no contributions in the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. Table 7.5 
illustrates highway contributions through S106 Agreements which will fund improvements to 
the Strategic and Local Road Network since the AAP was adopted. The minor permissions 
granted didn’t fall within the categories set out in the Sustainable Transport Strategy 
(Appendix B). Please note, the figures shown are sums agreed through permitted planning 
applications. Some applications may not progress and therefore not contribute to the figures 
in table 7.5. 

TABLE 7.5: HIGHWAY CONTRIBUTIONS THROUGH S106 AGREEMENTS 

Year Contributions* 

2010 – 2011 £491,749 

2011 – 2012 £744,000 

2012 – 2013  £564,158 

2013-2014 £31,551 

2014-2015 £153,199 

2015-2016 £154,635 

2016-2017 - 

Total £2,139,292 

* Indicative figure. Some permission’s might not be implemented. 

7.5.14 KPI12: Number of major developments receiving planning permission with 
agreed travel plan 

7.5.15 In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there were no Travel Plan’s approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

7.6 Plan Objective 5: Ensure Provision of Accessible Local Services and 
Facilities 

7.6.1 Plan Objective 5 seeks to (and is monitored via KPI21): 

7.6.2 Provide the local community with convenient access to a range of leisure, retail, health, 
educational and other associated community facilities such as a community centre and place 
of worship to promote cohesive communities. 

Page 79



Wyre Council 

38 

7.6.3 KPI21: Provision of Local Centre at Burn Naze 

7.6.4 In the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there has been no development of a Local 
Centre at Burn Naze.  

7.7 Plan Objective 6: Encourage Recreational Activity and Tourism 

7.7.1 Plan Objective 6 seeks to (and is monitored via KPI13, KPI14 and KPI15): 

7.7.2 Provide opportunities for informal and formal recreation throughout the area. 

7.7.3 Introduce new tourist attractions by capitalising on the area’s natural, environmental 
and heritage assets in order to attract more visitors to the area. 

7.7.4 KPI13: Amount of public open space (sq m2/ha), formal and informal 

7.7.5 Within the Fleetwood-Thornton AAP area there is approximately 7.5 hectares of formal 
open space and 28.7 hectares of informal open space. There is also approximately 2,934 
metres of green corridor (footpath adjacent to the River Wyre) used as informal open space. 
In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there has been no increase. 

7.7.6 KPI14: Number of new residential developments providing public open space to 
minimum requirements of saved policy H13 

7.7.7 In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there was no major residential planning 
permission granted.  

7.7.8 KPI15: Completion/Improvement of Wyre Estuary Coastal Path through plan area 

7.7.9 The Wyre Estuary Coastal Path project site is a linear site located along the River Wyre 
estuary coastline in between Fleetwood and Stanah village. It is being promoted through a 
multi-agency partnership, led by Lancashire County Council (REMADE), and including Wyre 
Council, and local land owners.  

7.7.10 The first phase was the creation of a shared use path to the rear of the existing United 
Utilities Waste Water Treatment works. This phase has been created but is not yet open for 
public use.    

7.7.11 The second phase has been the creation of a lit path along the highway (adjacent to 
Broadwater Caravan site) between Fleetwood Road and Jameson Road bridge. This phase 
has been completed and is open for public use. 

7.7.12 As of 31 March 2017, no further work was completed.  

7.8 Plan Objective 7: Encourage Sustainable Patterns of Development 

7.8.1 Plan Objective 7 seeks to (and is monitored via KPI16, KPI19 and KPI20): 

7.8.2 Promote sustainable patterns of development within the Area and to encourage energy 
related development including reduced CO² emissions through the encouragement of 
renewable forms of energy in new developments. 

7.8.3 KPI16: Renewable Energy – Approval of development incorporating energy 
efficient designs for new housing of 10+ units and non-housing developments of 
1,000m2 to use 10% renewable energy 

Page 80



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

39 

7.8.4 In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there were no planning permissions which 
included measures to incorporate the use of 10 per cent renewable energy. 

7.8.5 KPI19: Total amount of employment floorspace on previously development land 

7.8.6 The council’s target is that 65 per cent of additional employment floorspace is on 
previously developed land. In the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, there was no 
additional employment floorspace developed.  

7.8.7 KPI20: Total amount and percentage of new housing on previously developed 
land 

7.8.8 The council’s target is that 65 per cent of new housing is developed on previously 
developed land. In the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, 62 dwellings were completed, 
equating to 100 per cent on previously developed land. 

7.9 AAP Key Performance Indicator Analysis 

7.9.1 Table 7.6 illustrates how the AAP Key Performance indicators are performing against 
the AAP policies, comparing data from the previous year (where possible) and where targets 
have been set by the council.  
 

= Positive performance           = neither Negative or Positive                = Negative performance 
/ Action required 
 

TABLE 7.6: FLEETWOOD-THORNTON AAP INDICATOR PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS  

 

A
A

P
 P

o
li

c
y

 

(s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2
 f

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
) 

A
A

P
 K

e
y
  
  

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
  

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
(K

P
I)

 

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

  

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r 

/ 
 

T
a

rg
e

t 
  2
0
1
6
/2

0
1
7

 

O
u

tp
u

t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

Plan Objective 1: Protect and Enhance the Natural and Built Environment 

1 KPI1 Number of sites of nature conservation importance 

2015/16 = 
44.8 ha 
 
Target = No 
Loss 

44.8 ha 
(BHS) 

 

1 KPI2 No inappropriate development in flood zone 
Target = 
None 

None 

 

1 KPI3 
All development proposed through Policies 2 to 8 of AAP 
with design elements, which encourage and enhance 
biodiversity 

All 
development 
to enhance 
biodiversity 

One 

 

1 & 2 KPI3a 
The number and proportion of total new build completions 
on housing sites reaching very good, good, average and 
poor ratings against the Building for Life criteria 

All sites to 
achieve very 
good 

No sites 
assessed 

 

Plan Objective 2: Encourage Housing Choice 

2 KPI4 Amount of dwellings completed each year 
See table 
7.1 

62 
 

2 KPI5 
Number of affordable houses receiving planning 
permission 

Up to 40% 
of KPI4 
target 

See table 
7.2 

 

2 KPI6 Number of affordable housing completions 
Subject to 
KPI5 

See table 
7.2 

 

Page 81



Wyre Council 

40 

TABLE 7.6 (CONT): FLEETWOOD-THORNTON AAP INDICATOR PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS  

 

 
 
 

A
A

P
 P

o
li

c
y
 

(s
e
e
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2
 f

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
) 

A
A

P
 K

e
y
  
  

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
  

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
(K

P
I)

 

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r 

/ 
 

T
a

rg
e

t 
 2
0
1
5
/2

0
1
6
 

O
u

tp
u

t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

Plan Objective 3: Encourage Employment Oppotunities 

3 KPI7 Amount of land developed for employment by type 
2015/16 =  
2,809 m2 

0  m2 
 
Total = 
9,485  m2 

 

Plan Objective 4: Improve Accessibility and Movement throughout the Plan Area 

5 & 6 KPI8 
Number of new developments within 30 minutes travel by 
public transport of six services 

All new 
development 

Not 
Assessed 

 

5 & 6 KPI9 Number and frequency of bus services within Plan Area 
Increase 
through plan 
period 

6 services 

 

5 & 6 KPI10 
Length of new dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes 
within Plan Area 

No target 
No data 
available 

N/A 

5 & 6 KPI11 Improvements to the Strategic and Local Road Network No target 
See table 
7.6 

 

5 & 6 KPI12 
Number of major developments receiving planning 
permission with agreed travel plan 

All new 
development 

None 

 

Plan Objective 5: Ensure Provision of Accessible Local Services and Facilities 

7 KPI21 
Provision of Local Centre at Burn Naze 
(i) Retail Units 
(ii) Provision of ancillary community facilities 

N/A 
No 
development 
complete 

 

Plan Objective 6: Encourage Recreational Activity and Tourism 

8  KPI13 
Amount of public open space sq m / ha in Plan Area: 
(i) Formal 
(ii) Informal 

2011/12 =  
(i) 7.5 ha 
(ii) 28.7 ha 
 
Net increase 
through plan 
period 

No increase 

 

8  KPI14 
Number of new residential developments providing public 
open space to minimum requirements of saved policy H13 

All new 
residential 
development 

None 

 

8  KPI15 
Completion / Improvement of Wyre Estuary Coastal Path 
through Plan Area 

Completion 
by 2021 

Phase 1 & 2 
complete 

 

Plan Objective 7: Encourage Sustainable Patterns of Development 

9 KPI16 

Renewable Energy - Approval of development 
incorporating energy efficient designs for: 
(i) new housing of 10+ units, and  
(ii) non housing developments of 1000m2  
to use 10% renewable energy 

100% of 
relevant 
planning 
approvals 

None 

 

3 & 9 KPI19 
Total amount of employment floorspace on previously 
developed land 

Target = 
65% 

No 
additional 
development 

 

3 & 9 KPI20 
Total amount and percentage of new housing on 
previously developed land 

Target = 
65% 

62 
(100%) 

 

Page 82



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

41 

7.10 AAP Policy Conclusions  

7.10.1 It must be noted, that the Fleetwood-Thornton AAP was adopted September 2009, so 
several Key Performance Indicator’s (KPI’s) don’t give a true reflection of performance 
because there has either been no development or nothing to compare from the previous 
year. Therefore, it is evident form the AAP KPI’s that the AAP Policy objectives are 
performing adequately overall. 

7.10.2 Policy 1 aims to achieve development which both protects and where possible 
enhances biodiversity in the area which will also contribute to the long term health and well-
being of the community. However, only one planning permission contained measures to 
incorporate biodiversity into the development. Although, it must be noted that all permissions 
were only very small industrial permissions on existing industrial estates or extensions to 
existing buildings and it may be difficult to implement such measures.  

7.10.3 Policy 2 outlines allocated land for 1,300 dwellings within the plan area. There has 
been a total 532 dwellings completed up to 31 March 2017 and 98 of these were affordable 
homes satisfying Policy 2 by ensuring a choice of appropriate housing.  

7.10.4 There were no developments granted contrary to Environment Agency advice, 
meeting the council’s target and satisfying Policy 1 by ensuring that development granted 
considers the effects of flooding to protect and enhance the natural and built environment. 

7.10.5 Several phases of the multi-user Wyre Estuary Coastal Path are now complete, 
satisfying Policies 5, 6 and 8 by ensuring that accessibility and movement is improved and 
opportunities are made to introduce new recreational activities and tourism. 

7.10.6 All development was completed on previously developed land, meeting the council’s 
target and satisfying Policies 3 and 9 by ensuring sustainable patterns of development. 

Page 83



Wyre Council 

42 

8 Progress with Local Plan Development Documents  

8.1 Introduction 

8.1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by the Planning Act 
2008 and the Localism Act 2011, requires local planning authorities to prepare and maintain 
a Local Development Scheme (LDS).  
 
8.1.2 The LDS is a project plan for the Wyre Local Plan and must specify which Local Plan 
documents are to be Development Plan Documents (DPDs), the timetable for their 
preparation and revision, their geographical area of coverage and their subject matter. 

8.1.3 The latest LDS was published July 2016 and supersedes the 2014 LDS. Although the 
current LDS was approved after this current monitoring year (31 March 2016), it is 
appropriate to demonstrate progress against the 2016 LDS. 

8.1.4 In accordance with part 8 of The Town and Country (Local Plan) (England) Regulations 
2012, a key requirement of the AMR is to review progress on the delivery of Local Plans 
against the timetable and milestones set out in the LDS. This chapter of the AMR reviews 
progress in the preparation of Local Plans for the period 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017.   

8.2 Wyre Borough Local Plan 

8.2.1 The Wyre Borough Local Plan (1991-2006) was adopted in 1999.  On enactment of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the policies contained in the Local Plan were 
automatically saved for three years until September 2007. The Council undertook an 
assessment of all Local Plan policies and in March 2007, submitted a list of the policies it 
wished to save beyond that date, to the Secretary of State.  The Secretary of State agreed to 
save the requested policies until they are replaced by policies in a new Wyre Local Plan. A 
list of the saved policies is in Appendix 1. 
 
8.2.2 In 2002 Wyre Council embarked on a review of the Adopted Local Plan. The First 
Deposit Local Plan was published for public consultation in April 2004. Subsequently the 
review of the Local Plan was abandoned in 2006 in favour of preparing a new style Wyre 
Local Plan.  
 

8.3 Progress with Local Plans - Performance for the Period 1 April 2016 to 31 
March 2017 

8.3.1 The Council is currently producing a new Local Plan which will cover the period from 
2011 to 2031. On adoption of the Local Plan a new Local Plan Policies Map will be 
published. 

 
8.3.2 The Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan was formally adopted on 19 September 
2009. It establishes a clear vision and planning framework for development of Fleetwood and 
Thornton until 2021 and was adopted in advance of the new emerging Local Plan. The new 
Local Plan will supersede but incorporate the strategic elements of the AAP. 
 
8.3.3 To inform the development of the new Wyre Local Plan the Council produced for public 
consultation an Issues and Options document. The consultation was carried out from 17 
June to 7 August 2015.  
 
8.3.4 Owing to the requirement to respond to changes in national planning policy and 
subsequently the need to develop a more comprehensive evidence base, table 8.1 illustrates 
the evidence base documents the policy team has been working on during the year 2016 – 

Page 84



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

43 

2017. The evidence base documents can be viewed on the council’s website using the 
following link http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/evidencebase.  

TABLE 8.1: EVIDENCE BASE DOCUMENTS BEING PREPARED 2016-2017* 

Evidence Base documents* 
Completion 
/Anticipated 
Completion 

Wyre Addendum 3: Objectively Assessed Need Update  September 2017 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) July 2017 

Fylde Coast Authorities Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) - Addendum 

November 2016 

Green Belt Study May 2016 

Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) July 2016 

Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) August 2017 

2015 Wyre Employment Land Study Update Addendum II July 2017 

Rural Affordable Housing Needs Survey 2015 to 2020 January 2016 

Highways England Evidence Base June 2016 

Lancashire County Council Highways Evidence February 2017 

Settlement Study August 2016 

Settlement Profiles  October 2016 

Town Centre Boundary Review September 2017 

District and Local Centre Study September 2017 

      *Other evidence base documents also required or already completed 

 
8.3.5 As well as a detailed evidence base, the emerging Local Plan will be supported by a 
number of Technical Assessments. Table 8.2 illustrates the Technical Assessments the 
policy team has been working on during the year 2016 – 2017. The Technical Assessments 
can be viewed on the council’s website using the following link http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan.  

TABLE 8.2: TECHNICAL ASSESSMENTS BEING PREPARED 2016-2017 

Technical Assessments 
Completion 
/Anticipated 
Completion 

Sustainability Appraisal August 2017 

Equality Impact Assessment August 2017 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan  September 2017 

Habitat Regulations Assessment September 2017 

Statement of Consultation September 2017 

Local Plan and Site Allocations Viability Study October 2017 

 

8.3.6 To inform the plan-making process and assist with the identification of potential land 
allocations for the new Local Plan, the council carried out a new ‘Call for Sites’ in 2014 which 
supplements a similar exercise carried out in 2012. This produced a strong response from 

Page 85

http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan/evidencebase
http://wyre.gov.uk/localplan


Wyre Council 

44 

landowners and developers, with some 240 sites submitted (a combination of 2012 and 2014 
sites) for a range of uses, particularly residential development. Where appropriate the sites 
will feed in to various evidence base documents. 

8.3.7 Further consultation on the Publication Draft Local Plan took place in September 2017 
with full adoption of the Wyre Local Plan proposed in 2018.  

8.4 Duty to Cooperate 

8.4.1 The Localism Act (2011) imposes a duty on councils to co-operate with other councils 
and bodies on planning issues that cross administrative boundaries. Paragraph 178 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2012) (NPPF) specifically outlines what the Duty to 
Cooperate entails: 

“Public bodies have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that cross administrative 
boundaries, particularly those which relate to the strategic priorities….” 

8.4.2 Those strategic priorities identified as requiring cross boundary cooperation include: 

 Homes and jobs needed in a geographical area; 

 Infrastructure projects such as transport, flood risk and waste water; 

 Retail, leisure and other commercial developments; 

 Social infrastructure; and 

 Climate change mitigation and adaptation, conservation and enhancement of the 
natural and historic environment, including landscape. 

 
8.4.3 NPPF Paragraph 181 states that: 

“Local planning authorities will be expected to demonstrate evidence of having effectively co-
operated to plan for issues with cross-boundary impacts when their local plans are submitted 
for examination.” 

8.4.4  The duty seeks to ensure that all of the bodies involved in planning and development 
work together on issues that are of bigger than local significance.   

8.4.5 Figure 8.1 illustrates neighbouring local authorities to Wyre. Those prescribed bodies 
as defined in part 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 of most relevance to Wyre are: 

 Environment Agency; 

 English Heritage; 

 Natural England; 

 Civil Aviation Authority; 

 Homes and Communities Agency; 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups and the NHS Trust Development Authority; 

 Office of Rail and Road; 

 Highway Authority; and 

 Marine Management Organisation. 

Page 86



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

45 

             FIGURE 8.1: NEIGHBOURING AUTHORITIES TO WYRE COUNCIL 

 

8.4.6 Local authorities are also required to have regard to Local Enterprise Partnerships and 
Local Nature Partnerships. Those of relevance to Wyre are: 

 Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnership;  

 Lancashire Local Nature Partnership; and 

 Morecambe Bay Local Nature Partnership.  
 

8.4.7 The Town and Country (Local Plan) (England) Regulations 2012 require the Duty to 
Cooperate to be monitored as part of the AMR. The council are currently fulfilling the Duty to 
Cooperate in the following ways: 

 Wyre Council has collaborated with neighbouring authorities and various bodies with 
roles relevant to the duty throughout the Local Plan preparation process in relation to 
general elements of the Local Plan and in relation to site specific issues. At each 
stage of the Local Plan preparation process bodies and wider stakeholders have 
been consulted and any comments have been considered when revising the Local 
Plan development documents.  
 

 Wyre Council have jointly commissioned evidence studies in relation to housing and 
retail with neighbouring Fylde Coast authorities. 

 

 A Fylde Coast Memorandum of Understanding between Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre 
Councils and Lancashire County Council has been prepared and regular meetings 
take place. 

  

 Through the operation of various stakeholder and topic based working groups such 
as the Wyre Flood Forum which allow for consultation and discussions with 
‘prescribed bodies’ such as the Environment Agency. 
 

Page 87



Wyre Council 

46 

 Officers from the Council’s planning policy team attend meetings of the Lancashire 
Planning Policy Officers Group. The group, made up of representatives from each of 
the planning policy teams across Lancashire and the County Council meets quarterly 
to discuss various cross boundary issues such as: 

 
 Lancashire Minerals and Waste Development Framework; 
 Housing growth figures and landscape policy; 
 Local Transport Plan 3 and subsequent masterplans; 
 Service Level Agreements; and  
 Shared evidence bases and data collection methodologies. 

 
8.4.8 As preparation of the Local Plan continues further examples will be provided in the 
AMR as to how the council are fulfilling the duty. 

 

 

Page 88



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

47 

Appendix 1: Schedule of re-saved Local Plan Policies 

Please note that any policies not listed expired on 27th
 

September 2007. 

Core Strategy  
 
SP2 – Strategic Location for Development  
SP4 – Change of Use of Land in Green Belts  
SP5 – Definition of the Main Rural Settlements  
SP8 – Definition of Small Rural Settlements  
SP12 – Defined Open Areas  
SP13 – Development in the Countryside  
SP14 – Standards of Design and Amenity  
 
The Natural and Built Environment  
 
ENV2 – Open Coastline  
ENV7 – Trees on Development Sites  
ENV9 – Conservation Areas  
ENV10 – Listed Buildings  
ENV11 – Demolition of Listed Buildings  
ENV13 – Development and Flood Risk  
ENV14 – Development and Flood Defences  
ENV15 – Surface Water Run-Off  
ENV16 – Ground Water Protection  
ENV17 – Surface Water Protection  
ENV18 – Advertising  
 
Housing  
 
H3 – Housing Allocations  
H4 – Alterations and Extensions to Residential 
Properties  
H5 – Permanent Residential Mobile Homes and 
Residential Caravan Parks  
H6 – Changes to Residential Use in the 
Countryside Area of Rural Wyre  
H7 – Replacement Dwellings  
H8 – Temporary Residential Caravans  
H9 – Extensions to Residential Curtilages  
H10 – Agricultural Workers’ Dwellings  
H11 – Subdivision of Existing Dwellings into 
Smaller Units of Residential Accommodation  
H13 – Open Space in New Housing 
Developments  
H15 – The Provision of Affordable Housing within 
Rural Areas  
 
Employment and Industry  
 
EMP2 – Existing Commitments  
EMP3 – New Allocations  
EMP4 – Land East of Fleetwood Road  
EMP6 – Land at Catterall Gates Lane, Catterall  
EMP7 – Land at Longmoor Lane, Nateby  
EMP8 – Existing Industrial Areas  
EMP9 – Car Sales on Industrial Estates  
EMP12 – Diversification of the Rural Economy  
EMP13 – Conversion of Rural Buildings in 
Countryside Areas  

 
Shopping  
 
S6 – Change of Use of Retail Premises  
S7 – The Design of Signs and Shopfronts  
 
Town Centres  
 
TC1 – Town Centre Boundaries  
TC2 – Primary Shopping Areas  
TC7 – Secondary Shopping Areas  
TC11 – Mixed Development Area at Parkhill 
Road, Garstang  
TC13 – Professional and Financial Services in 
Fleetwood  
TC15 – Change of Use of Upper Floors  
TC19 – Defined Open Area in Garstang  
 
Tourism, Recreation and Open Space 
  
TREC2 – Small Hotels, Guest Houses and Youth 
Hostels  
TREC3 – Lancaster Canal  
TREC5 – Static Caravans and Chalet 
Developments  
TREC6 – Touring Caravans  
TREC7 – Preserving the Seaside Resorts  
TREC8 – Existing and Additional or Improved 
Sports and Recreational Facilities  
TREC10 – Golf Courses and Other Outdoor 
Recreational Facilities  
TREC12 – Public Rights of Way  
TREC13 – Facilities for Informal Recreation  
TREC14 – Protection of Recreational Open 
Space  
TREC16 – Sports Fields Within the Green Belt  
 
Transportation  
 
TR1 – Major Road Proposals  
TR6 – Rail Facilities  
TR7 – Rail Reinstatement to Fleetwood  
TR8 – Blackpool to Fleetwood Tramway  
TR9 - Cyclists  
 
Community and Infrastructure Services  
 
CIS1 – Provision for Community Services  
CIS2 – Telecommunications  
CIS4 – Power Lines and Overhead Cables  
CIS5 – High Voltage Power Lines  
CIS6 – Securing Adequate Servicing and 
Infrastructure  
CIS7 – Wastewater Management

 

 

Page 89



Wyre Council 

48 

Appendix 2: Schedule of Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan 
Policies 

Please note that saved policy SP2 ‘Strategic Location for Development’ in the adopted Local 
Plan is superseded by the Fleetwood-Thornton Area Action Plan (AAP). The remaining 
saved policies continue to be applicable within the AAP where relevant. Since the AAP is a 
more recent development plan than the Local Plan, where specific allocations made in the 
Local Plan are in conflict with proposals in the AAP, allocations within the AAP will take 
precedence.  
 
Policy 1 – Environmental Quality and Protection 
 
Policy 2 – Housing Provision 
 
Policy 3 – Industry and Business 
 
Policy 4 – Contingency Site 
 
Policy 5 – Transport Network Improvements 
 
Policy 6 – Movement and Accessibility 
 
Policy 7 – Community Facilities and Service Provision 
 
Policy 8 – Recreation and Leisure  
 
Policy 9 – Encouraging Energy Efficiency, Renewable Energy and Sustainable Design and 

Construction in Development 
 
Policy 10 – Increasing the Role of Tourism 
 

Page 90



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

49 

Appendix 3: Glossary of terms and abbreviations  

Appropriate Assessment: An Appropriate Assessment, also known as a Habitat Regulation 
Assessment is required in order to assess the potential effect of the Local Plan on the 
integrity of a Natura 2000 site e.g. a Special Protection Area (SPA) or Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC).   
 
Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR): A report produced by a local planning authority that 
assesses the progress and the effectiveness of specified planning policies in development 
plan documents. It also includes a review of the Local Development Scheme’s timetable.  
 
Area Action Plan (AAP): A Development Plan Document, which focuses on a specific part 
of the district. They focus on the implementation of policies towards conservation, change 
and opportunities (for example a major regeneration project with new housing). 
 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB): AONB’s are designated by the Countryside 
Agency. They represent the nation’s finest landscapes. They are designated to safeguard 
and enhance their natural beauty.  
 
Biological Heritage Site (BHSs): In Lancashire, Local Authorities are required to identify 
and provide protection to the natural heritage within their districts. These are the most 
important non-statutory wildlife sites. For example; ancient woodland, species rich grassland 
and bogs. 
 
Civil Aviation Authority (CAA): The CAA is the statutory corporation which oversees and 
regulates all aspects of civil aviation in the United Kingdom. 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs): CCGs were created following the Health and 
Social Care Act in 2012, and replaced Primary Care Trusts on 1 April 2013. They are 
clinically-led statutory NHS bodies responsible for the planning and commissioning of health 
care services for their local area. 

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS): BEIS was established 
July 2016 and brings together responsibilities for business, industrial strategy, science, 
innovation, energy, and climate change, merging the functions of the former BIS and DECC. 
 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG): DCLG is the Government 
Department responsible for planning matters, with the responsibility to promote community 
cohesion and equality, as well as housing, urban regeneration, planning and local 
government. 
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA): DEFRA is a Government 
Department in the UK. Their main primary purpose is to secure a healthy environment in 
which we and future generations can prosper.  
 
Department for Transport (DfT): The DfT provides leadership across the transport sector to 
achieve a transport system, which balances the needs of the economy, the environment and 
society. 
 
Development Plan Document (DPD): A document identifying the Council’s planning 
policies and proposals. Development Plan Documents include the Local Plan, Site-Specific 
Allocations Documents, Area Acton Plans and a Proposals Map. They are subject to 
community involvement, consultation and independent examination. A sustainability 
appraisal is required for each development plan document. 
 

Page 91



Wyre Council 

50 

Duty to Co-operate: a legal duty on local planning authorities to engage constructively and 
actively and to address strategic cross-boundary matters in preparing Local Plans.   
 
English Heritage: English Heritage is a registered charity that manages over 400 of 
England’s historic buildings, monuments and sites. 
 
Environment Agency (EA): The Environmental Agency is a government body responsible 
for protecting and improving the effects of pollution on the environment in England and 
Wales. To make sure that air, land and water are looked after. 
 
Evidence Base: The information and data gathered by the local planning authority to justify 
the policy approach set out in the Local Plan.   
 
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA): An EqIA is a systematic way of examining whether a 
new or existing function, policy or process differentially affects any person or group of 
persons. 

Examination: The local planning authority must submit the Local plan for examination.  The 
examination is carried out by an independent Planning Inspector to consider whether the 
local plan is ‘sound’ and meets the ‘legal compliance’.   
 
Homes and Community Agency (HCA): The HCA is the non-departmental public body that 
helps fund new affordable housing and regulates social housing providers in England. They 
also help create successful communities by making more homes and business premises 
available to the residents and businesses who need them. 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP):  The IDP is a plan produced in parallel to preparing the 
Local Plan which assesses the impacts of the proposed development on infrastructure and 
sets out necessary infrastructure required to support proposed development.      
 
Green Belt: An area of land largely around built up areas designated to protect the land from 
development. The purposes are to restrict urban sprawl, safeguard the countryside, preserve 
the character of historic towns and to encourage the use of Brownfield sites for development.   
 
Greenfield site: Land not previously developed (PDL), usually agricultural land. 
  
Habitats Regulations Assessment: please see Appropriate Assessment.   
 
Highways England: Highways England is the government company responsible for 
operating, maintaining and improving the strategic road network of England. 
 
Highway Authority: A highway authority is a name given to a body responsible for the 
administration of public roads. In Lancashire, LCC are the highway authority. 

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD): The IMD is a set of six indicators (income; 
employment; health deprivation and disability; education; skills and training; housing; and 
geographical access to services) to help identify areas for regeneration, at ward level.  
 
Lancashire County Council (LCC): LCC is the upper-tier (part of a 'two tier' system of local 
government) local authority for the non-metropolitan county of Lancashire. Residents who 
live in Lancashire (excluding Blackpool Council and Blackburn with Darwen Borough 
Council) will also have a district council providing some of the council services. 
 

Page 92



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

51 

Local Development Documents (LDDs): These include any document within the Local 
Development Framework. They comprise Development Plan Documents, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and the Statement of Community involvement. 
 
Local Development Scheme (LDS): The LDS is a three-year programme, which shows the 
Council’s time scale for the preparation and production of Local Development Documents. 
 
Localism Act: A major piece of new legislation, which includes wide-ranging changes to 
local government, housing and planning. Significantly, the Act abolishes regional planning, 
and introduces the possibility of Neighbourhood Plans as part of the development plan. 

Local Geodiversity Sites (LGSs): LGSs are protected in the same way as important 
biological sites, to recognise and protect the importance of certain landforms.  

 
Marine Management Organisation (MMO): The MMO is an executive non-departmental 
public body in the United Kingdom which license, regulate and plan marine activities in the 
seas around England so that they're carried out in a sustainable way. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that it is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so. It provides a framework within which local people and 
their accountable councils can produce their own distinctive local and neighbourhood plans, 
which reflect the needs and priorities of their communities 
 
Natural England (NE): NE was formed in 2006 and is a non-departmental public body 
sponsored by DEFRA. It is responsible for ensuring that England's natural environment, 
including its land, flora and fauna, freshwater and marine environments, geology and soils, 
are protected and improved. It also has a responsibility to help people enjoy, understand and 
access the natural environment. 
 
Office for National Statistics (ONS): ONS is the executive office of the UK Statistics 
Authority and is the UK Government's single largest statistical producer. ONS produces 
independent information to improve our understanding of the UK's economy and society. 
 
Office of Rail and Road (ORR): As of 1 April 2015, the ORR is the economic regulator of 
Britain's mainline railway and health and safety regulator on all Britain's railways. They also 
monitor England's Strategic Highways network. It was previously the Office of Rail 
Regulation. 

Previously Developed Land (PDL), also known as Brownfield: Land previously 
developed on or was occupied by a permanent structure. Usually associated with derelict 
urban land. Excludes agriculture or forestry land and previously used land which now has 
nature conservation or recreation value. 
 
Public Health England (PHE): PHE was established on 1 April 2013 to bring together public 
health specialists from more than 70 organisations into a single public health service. They 
are an executive agency of the Department of Health, and a distinct delivery organisation 
with operational autonomy to advise and support government, local authorities and the NHS 
in a professionally independent manner. 
 
Ramsar: Sites designated under the European Ramsar Convention which provide a 
framework for national and international co-operation to protect wetlands and their resources 
of international importance, particularly as waterfowl habitats 
 

Page 93



Wyre Council 

52 

REclamation and MAnagement of DErelict land (REMADE) : REMADE has been set up 
by Lancashire County Council in partnership with the Northwest Regional Development 
Agency as part of the Agency’s commitment to tackling the region’s derelict land problem. 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS): The RSS is a document, which provides a framework for 
the physical development for how the region should look in fifteen to twenty years and forms 
part of the development plan. For example, the RSS identifies the scale and distribution of 
new housing in the region and areas for regeneration. (Please note, the RSS was formally 
revoked by the Government as part of the Development Plan in May 2013.) 
 
Section 106 Agreement: A legal agreement under section 106 of the 1990 Town & Country 
Planning Act. Section 106 agreements are legal agreements between a planning authority 
and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer, that ensure that certain 
extra works related to a development are undertaken. 
 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs): An SSSI is an area that has been identified 
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as an area as special interest. Related to the 
natural heritage of wildlife habitats, geological or physiological features of the site. 
 
Special Area of Conservation (SACs): SACs are designated sites protected under the 
European Community Habitats Directive, to protect internationally important natural habitats 
and species. 
 
Special Protection Area (SPAs): SPAs are designated sites protected under the European 
Community Directive on the conservation of wild birds, also known as the Birds Directive.  
 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI): The Statement of Community Involvement is 
an essential part of the new-look Local Development Framework. The SCI sets out the 
Council will involve the community at every stage in the preparation, alteration and 
production of the LDF.  The SCI is not a development plan document but will still be subject 
to an independent examination. 
 
Statement of Consultation (SoC): It is a legal requirement of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) 2012 Regulations (SI No.767) that a Statement of 
Consultation accompanies the submission of the local plan to the Secretary of State. 
Regulation 22 of the regulations requires the Statement to demonstrate: 

 who was invited to make representations; 

 how they were invited to do so; 

 a summary of the main issues raised by the representations; and 

 how these have been addressed in the Local Plan. 
 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA): In accordance with advice from the 
Environment Agency and in line with Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood 
risk (PPS25), Councils are required to undertake a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment to 
inform preparation of the LDF and also to provide further details to developers of varying 
levels of flood risk within the area. 
 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments (SHLAA): SHLAA is a key component 
of the evidence base to support the delivery of sufficient land for housing to meet the 
community’s need for more homes. 
 
Strategic Location for Development (SLD): A Strategic Location for Development is an 
area identified as a priority for large-scale mixed-use development. 
 

Page 94



Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017 

53 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA): These are required under new legislation and assess all the 
policies development plan. They include consideration of social and economic impacts as 
well as impacts on the environment. 
 
Super Output Area (SOA): A SOA is a unit of geography designed for the collection and 
publication of small area statistics.  
 
Use Class Order (UCO): The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 puts 
uses of land and buildings into various categories. Planning permission is not needed for 
changes of use within the same use class. 

- A1 Shops - Shops, post offices, travel agents, hairdressers, funeral directors, dry 
cleaners. 
- A2 Financial and professional services - Banks, building societies, betting offices, 
and other financial and professional services. 
- A3 Food and drink - Restaurants and cafes 
- A4 Food and drink - Pubs 
- A5 Food and drink - Hot food take-aways. 
- B1 Business (b1a) Offices 

    (b1b) Research and development 
      (b1c) light industry appropriate in a residential area 
- B2 General industrial 
- B8 Distribution, including open air storage 
- C1 Hotels - Hotels, boarding and guest houses where no significant element of care 
is provided. 
- C2 Residential institutions - Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, 
boarding schools, residential colleges and training centres. 
- C3 Dwelling houses - Family houses, or houses occupied by up to six residents 
living together as a single household, including a household where care is provided 
for residents. 
- D1 Non-residential institutions - Surgeries, nurseries, day centres, schools, art 
galleries, museums, libraries, halls, churches. 
- D2 Assembly and leisure - Cinemas, concert halls, bingo and dance halls,   
casinos, swimming baths, skating rinks, gymnasiums or sports arenas (except for 
motor sports, or where firearms are used). 

 

Page 95

lmilnes_1
Typewritten Text
arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911dp1 Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date Item No. 

Councillor Alan Vincent, 
Leader of the Council and 
Resources Portfolio Holder 
and Clare James, Head of 

Finance  

Cabinet 29 November 2017 8 

 

Capital Programme Review and Monitoring Report 

 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
To consider the summary of the Spending Officers’ (April to end 
September 2017) review of the 2017/18 Capital Budget and its impact on 
the Capital Programme thereafter. 
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 

The delivery of the Capital Programme and its monitoring will 
demonstrate good financial management by ensuring that the 
Programme is soundly based and designed to deliver the Council’s 
strategic priorities. 
 

3. Recommendation 
 

 3.1 
 
 

That the Capital Programme and its funding be updated to reflect the 
changes indicated in the report and that the impact on the Revenue 
Budget be reflected in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and 
future revisions of the Revenue Estimates. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 As part of the Council’s Performance Management process Spending 
Officers and Financial Services review at the end of each quarter the 
progress of Capital scheme expenditure against the approved 
Programme. The summary results of this review for the 2017/18 second 
quarter, ending 30 September 2017, are contained in Appendix 1.  
 

 4.2 A full scheme analysis is available within the revised Ten Performance 
Management system under ‘Performance, Reports, Capital Programme 
2017/18’.  
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



 4.3 The Original Capital Budget for 2017/18 was set at £22,809,542. Details 
of the changes either in expenditure or its funding since then (see 
Appendix 1) can be found in the appropriate Cabinet, Audit Committee or 
Portfolio Holder reports. The main variations in spend against profiled 
budget and budget changes from the second quarter review, as a result 
of Officers’ information, are detailed in Appendix 2.  
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

  Appendix 1 shows actual costs and commitments totalling £14,211,705 up 
to the end of the second quarter against the Officers’ profiled budget of 
£15,710,261 representing a spend of 90%. The main scheme variations in 
spend against profiled budget are shown in Appendix 2, section A. 
 

 At 30 September 2017, one current year scheme had not been reported to 
the relevant Portfolio Holder for scheme approval (see Appendix 2, section 
A1). 
 

 The main scheme variations in spend against profiled budget are shown in 
Appendix 2, sections A2 and A3. 
 

 As a result of the quarter 2 review and Portfolio Holder Report dated 19 
October 2017 re Turnstiles at Fleetwood Market, when compared to the 
current approved Budget, aggregate expenditure in 2017/18 is now 
expected to be £483,805 lower as listed in Appendix 2, section B1. This 
includes the slippage of Disabled Facilities Grants. The ongoing 
implication for future years is shown in Appendix 2, sections B2 to B4. 
 
Leisure and Culture Portfolio 
 

 Poulton and Thornton Leisure Centres – The contractor has completed 
some snagging list items but further works remain to be completed by 
either the council or the contractor prior to a final payment being agreed. 
Once the scheme costs are finalised they will be summarised in a detailed 
report to Cabinet. 
   

 Boilers at Thornton Little Theatre – Works have commenced and no 
overspend is anticipated at this stage. 
 

 Garstang Pool Sandfilters – The commitment reflects the full cost of the 
scheme therefore a saving of £7,750 has been recognised that will 
increase capital funds available for other schemes. 
 

Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety Portfolio 
 

 Rossall Seawall Improvements – The latest estimates are that the main 
seawall construction works will be complete in January and the 
programme for landscaping work remains likely to continue into Spring 
2018 which will result in some expenditure being slipped to 2018/19 nearer 
the time. A minor adjustment to the budget is to be made to decrease it by 
£1,633 to reflect costs incurred in 2016/17. 
 

Page 98



 Disabled Facilities Mandatory Grants – Delays in processing Occupational 
Therapist (OT) referrals at LCC led to slippage of £487,681 being carried 
forward from 2016/17. In the first half of 2017/18 continued delays have 
been experienced in the receipt of referrals from LCC and this, combined 
with a substantially increased budget for 2017/18, has resulted in slippage 
of £500,000 into 2018/19 being requested. In order to mitigate the 
dependency upon LCC for DFG referrals, an updated policy has now been 
established to accept referrals from private OT’s.  

 

 Flood Relief (Repair and Renew Grants) – At the end of quarter 2 the 
council has approved individual household grants which have yet to be 
claimed totalling £67,182 and one community project grant still to be 
claimed causing the slower than profile spend at Appendix 2, A2.  

 
Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 
 

 Fleetwood Market Lighting – This scheme is to be retendered and is now 
unlikely to commence before 2018. 
 
Resources Portfolio 
 

 Vehicle Replacement Programme – There has been some re-phasing in 
2017/18 and 2018/19 which has resulted in an increased usage of the 
reserve in both years compensated by lower usage in future years. 
 

 Building Improvement Works – The balance of £360 that has not been 
allocated to any specific scheme is to be returned to the capital receipts 
balance awaiting further schemes.  
 

Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces Portfolio 
 

 Mount Ground Restoration Phase 2 – Works are ongoing and the first 
payment from the Heritage Lottery fund has been received. 
 

 Playground Refurbishment Unallocated – After officer consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder a scheme report will follow later in the year. 
 

 Initial investigations into the use of £25,000, part of a £51,685 Section 106 
payment for public open spaces near the housing development on the 
former Ashdell site, are ongoing. Further details will be provided in a 
Portfolio Holder report early next year. 

   
 Capital Grants, Contributions and Receipts 

  
  There has been no increase in external funding as a consequence of the 

changes in 2017/18 detailed in Appendix 1. 
 

 Options continue to be explored for the £377,974 Community Housing 
Fund grant for delivery models to involve community-led groups and local 
housing providers. The identification of additional grant funding streams to 
provide additional resources is also being investigated. A Portfolio Holder 
report outlining proposals will follow later this year and the scheme will 
then be added to the Capital Programme. 

Page 99



  

 There are no additional capital receipts to report at this stage. 
 

 A Portfolio Holder report for Turnstiles at Fleetwood Market funded from 
the Capital Investment Reserve, costing £10,439, has been approved 
since this review and included within Appendix 1 and 2 for completeness. 

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 

The changes to the Capital Programme expenditure 
following the second quarter review and the funding 
indicated in Appendix 1 (2017/18 through to 2020/21) do 
not require any additional use of Reserves other than 
those previously reported and £8,110 has been returned to 
Capital Receipts for future use.  

Legal None arising directly from this report. 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management  

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  data protection x 

health and safety x  

 

report author telephone no. email date 

Julie Woods 01253 887601 Julie.woods@wyre.gov.uk  30/10/17 

 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   

 

List of appendices 
 

Appendix 1 – Capital Programme and Funding 
Appendix 2 – 2017/18 Quarter 2 Expenditure Changes and Funding Issues 
 
 
 
 
 

arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911cj1 

Page 100



Capital Programme and Funding Appendix 1

Funded by …………………………………………………

Full Year Grants and Capital Total

Budget Contributions Revenue Receipts Loan Funded

£ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Budget - 2017/18

Original overall approval, part of 17/18 Council Tax setting 22,809,542 22,404,854 261,000 143,688 0 22,809,542

25,569,475 24,873,837 526,651 168,987 0 25,569,475

Overall approval after Quarter 1 review Cabinet 6/09/17 and 

Resource PH Reports 17/08/17 and 29/09/17. 25,607,954 24,875,837 533,130 198,987 0 25,607,954

Current

Actual to Profiled budget Full Year

All 2017/18 schemes - by Director 30th Sept 17 Commitments  to end Qtr 2 Budget

£ £ £ £

Service Director for:-

Health and Wellbeing 539,349 14,311 956,522 2,140,199

People and Places 5,878,270 7,501,749 14,402,995 23,108,511

Performance and Innovation 225,276 52,750 350,744 359,244

6,642,895 7,568,810 15,710,261 25,607,954

Current

Actual to Profiled budget Full Year

All 2017/18 schemes - by Portfolio 30th Sept 17 Commitments  to end Qtr 2 Budget

£ £ £ £

Portfolio:-

Health and Community Engagement 0 0 0 0

Leisure and Culture -22,600 67,061 97,670 97,670

Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety 6,363,010 7,276,010 14,904,856 24,698,745

Planning and Economic Development 385 43,842 101,850 110,350

Resources 295,993 49,056 472,875 472,875

Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces 6,107 132,841 133,010 228,314

6,642,895 7,568,810 15,710,261 25,607,954

Funded by …………………………………………………

Full Year Grants and Capital Total

Budget Contributions Revenue Receipts Loan Funded

£ £ £ £ £ £

Latest Capital Budget 2017/18 after Quarter 2 review 25,124,149 24,374,204 559,068 190,877 0 25,124,149

Funded by …………………………………………………

Full Year Grants and Capital Total

Budget Contributions Revenue Receipts Loan Funded

£ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Budget - 2018/19

Original overall approval, part of 17/18 Council Tax setting 1,734,619 1,518,119 216,500 0 0 1,734,619

1,899,469 1,653,469 246,000 0 0 1,899,469

Latest Capital Budget 2018/19 after 17/18 Qtr 2 review 2,428,969 2,153,469 275,500 0 0 2,428,969

Overall approval after changes for new schemes Garstang Pool 

Sandfilters, IT Server and Storage, Wyre Beach Management 

Business Case, MOT Test Centre, Fleetwood Market Lighting 

and increase in Better Care Funding of DFGs.

Overall approval after increased forecast of Better Care 

Funding of DFG's in line with current allocation. Also after 

2016/17 Final Accounts report to Audit Committee 25/7/17 

which included a Vehicle Fleet Replacement Programme review 

affecting 2018/19. 

Also after 2016/17 Final Accounts report to Audit Committee 

25/7/17 in which slippage to 2017/18 was agreed. 

Page 101



Capital Programme and Funding Appendix 1 - Continued

Funded by …………………………………………………

Full Year Grants and Capital Total

Budget Contributions Revenue Receipts Loan Funded

£ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Budget - 2019/20

Original overall approval, part of 17/18 Council Tax setting 1,862,619 1,518,119 344,500 0 0 1,862,619

1,997,969 1,653,469 344,500 0 0 1,997,969

Latest Capital Budget 2019/20 after 17/18 Qtr 2 review 1,997,969 1,653,469 344,500 0 0 1,997,969

Funded by …………………………………………………

Full Year Grants and Capital Total

Budget Contributions Revenue Receipts Loan Funded

£ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Budget - 2020/21

Original overall approval, part of 17/18 Council Tax setting 1,944,819 1,518,119 426,700 0 0 1,944,819

2,080,169 1,653,469 426,700 0 0 2,080,169

Latest Capital Budget 2020/21 after 17/18 Qtr 2 review 2,080,169 1,653,469 426,700 0 0 2,080,169

Arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911cj1 App 1

Overall approval after increased forecast of Better Care 

Funding of DFG's in line with current allocation. No change 

proposed at Audit Committee 25/7/17.

Overall approval after increased forecast of Better Care 

Funding of DFG's in line with current allocation. No change 

proposed at Audit Committee 25/7/17.

Page 102



2017/18 Quarter 2 Expenditure changes and Funding Issues Appendix 2

A) Main Scheme variations - actuals and commitments to 30/9/17 compared with profiled budget

Current

Actual to Profiled budget Full Year

30th Sept 17 Commitments  to end Qtr 2 Budget

£ £ £ £

A1) Schemes for which Portfolio Holder approval reports have yet to be considered

Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces

Playground Refurbishment Unallocated 0 0 36,688 36,688

A2) Main Schemes with slower spend progress than anticipated

Leisure and Culture

Thornton Leisure Centre -23,136 0 0 0

Boilers - Thornton Little Theatre 15,128 0 30,000 30,000

Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety

Disabled Facilities Mandatory Grants 584,246 0 956,522 2,123,150

Wyre Beach Management Study 0 0 22,862 22,862

Rossall Seawall Improvement Works 5,700,092 7,267,060 13,744,016 22,305,776

Wyre Beach Management Business Case 11,130 8,870 35,000 60,000

Flood Relief (Repair and Renew) 64,355 0 140,000 140,000

Planning and Economic Development

Fleetwood Market Lighting 0 0 49,735 49,735

Resources

Vehicle Fleet Replacement Programme 93,015 49,056 269,536 269,536

Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces

Mount Grounds Restoration -15,716 10,731 13,075 13,075

6,429,114 7,335,717 15,297,434 25,050,822

A3) Main Schemes with greater spend progress than anticipated

Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces

Mount Grounds Restoration Phase 2 Development 64,697 73,387 63,536 158,840

64,697 73,387 63,536 158,840

B) 2017/18 Quarter 2 Review changes and PH Report 19/10/17

Funded by …………………………………………………

Budget Grants and Capital Total

Adjustment Contributions Revenue Receipts Loan Funded

£ £ £ £ £ £

B1) Capital Budget - 2017/18 changes

Changes in schemes as a result of rephasing, reduced costs and externally funded schemes

Leisure and Culture

Garstang Pool Sandfilters -7,750 0 0 -7,750 0 -7,750

Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety

Disabled Facilities Grants -500,000 -500,000 0 0 0 -500,000

Rossall Seawall Improvement Works -1,633 -1,633 0 0 0 -1,633

Resources

Building Improvements 10,079 0 10,439 -360 0 10,079

Vehicle Fleet Replacement Programme 15,499 0 15,499 0 0 15,499

-483,805 -501,633 25,938 -8,110 0 -483,805

B2) Capital Budget - 2018/19 changes

Changes in scheme as a result of rephasing and externally funded schemes

Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety

Disabled Facilities Grants 500,000 500,000 0 0 0 500,000

Resources

Vehicle Fleet Replacement Programme 29,500 0 29,500 0 0 29,500

529,500 500,000 29,500 0 0 529,500

B3) Capital Budget - 2019/20 changes 

No change

B4) Capital Budget - 2020/21 changes

No change

Arm/ex/cab/cr/17/2911cj1 App 2

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of minutes
	Minutes

	5 Life in Wyre task group - final report
	6 Proposal to Dissolve the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Economic Development Company and Form an Economic Prosperity Board
	7 Authorities Monitoring Report 2016-2017
	8 Capital Programme Review and Monitoring Report



